

# MIT Open Access Articles

# The N \$\$ \mathcal{N} \$\$ = 2 prepotential and the sphere free energy

The MIT Faculty has made this article openly available. *Please share* how this access benefits you. Your story matters.

Citation: Journal of High Energy Physics. 2022 Jun 08;2022(6):45

As Published: https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP06(2022)045

Publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg

Persistent URL: https://hdl.handle.net/1721.1/143086

**Version:** Final published version: final published article, as it appeared in a journal, conference proceedings, or other formally published context

Terms of use: Creative Commons Attribution



Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: March 25, 2022 ACCEPTED: May 14, 2022 PUBLISHED: June 8, 2022

# The $\mathcal{N}=2$ prepotential and the sphere free energy

Bernardo Zan,<sup>a</sup> Daniel Z. Freedman<sup>b,c</sup> and Silviu S. Pufu<sup>a</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> Joseph Henry Laboratories, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, U.S.A.
- <sup>b</sup>Stanford Institute for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, U.S.A.
- <sup>c</sup> Center for Theoretical Physics and Department of Mathematics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.

*E-mail:* bzan@princeton.edu, dzfmit@gmail.com, spufu@princeton.edu

ABSTRACT: We study the mass-deformed sphere free energy of three-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  superconformal field theories with holographic duals. Building on previous observations, we conjecture a proportionality relation between the sphere free energy on the boundary and the prepotential of the four-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity theory in the bulk. We verify this formula by explicit computation in several examples of supergravity theories with vector multiplets and hypermultiplets.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Supergravity Models, Extended Supersymmetry, Renormalization Group

ARXIV EPRINT: 2112.06931



# Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	The conjecture	2		
	1.2	Background	3		
<b>2</b>	The free energy in the absence of hypermultiplets				
	2.1	Setting up the computation	5		
	2.2	$AdS_4$ solution, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT interpretation, and alternate quantization	6		
	2.3	Solutions with sphere slicing	8		
		2.3.1 The BPS equations	9		
		2.3.2 Computation of the renormalized on-shell action:	10		
		2.3.3 Legendre transform	12		
		2.3.4 Real mass deformation in the boundary theory	12		
		2.3.5 Independence of the FI parameters	14		
	2.4	$\mathcal{F} = rac{i}{4} \eta_{IJ} X^I X^J$	14		
	2.5	$\mathcal{F} = -2i\sqrt{X^0 X^1 X^2 X^3}$	17		
		2.5.1 All couplings equal	17		
		2.5.2 Unequal couplings in the STU model	19		
3	Ado	ling hypermultiplets	21		
	3.1	The conjecture in the case of hypermultiplets	22		
	3.2 $\mathcal{F} = \frac{i}{4} \eta_{IJ} X^I X^J$		22		
		3.2.1 The BPS equations and their simplification	25		
		3.2.2 Asymptotic analysis	27		
		3.2.3 Numerics	28		
		3.2.4 Computation of the free energy	29		
		3.2.5 Comparison to the proposal	31		
	3.3	STU model with hypermultiplets	32		
4	Discussion				
Α	Mass spectra of abelian vector multiplet theories				
в	B Asymptotic analysis				
$\mathbf{C}$	C The STU model with general couplings				
D	Details about the universal multiplet				

#### 1 Introduction

Three-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  superconformal field theories with flavor symmetry admit supersymmetric "real mass" deformations [1]. As explained in [1], the real mass parameters, denoted here generically by  $\mathfrak{m}$ , are introduced by first coupling the conserved current multiplet to a background vector multiplet, and then giving the vector multiplet scalars supersymmetry-preserving expectation values proportional to  $\mathfrak{m}$ . These real mass deformations can be constructed not only in flat space, but also on curved manifolds, and in this work we will be interested in the case of the round sphere  $S^3$ . As explained in [2, 3], the mass-deformed  $S^3$  free energy  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  can be computed exactly in any Lagrangian  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theory using the technique of supersymmetric localization (see [4–6] for reviews and references). Although we will not make use of this fact explicitly, we should point out that the mass-deformed sphere free energy is related by analytic continuation to the trial R-charge deformations used in the *F*-maximization procedure [2, 7], so we will not make a distinction between trial R-charges and mass parameters in the following discussion.

The focus of our work is to study  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  in holographic theories at leading order in the bulk derivative expansion. In recent work [8], it was pointed out that, in a holographic setup,  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  receives contributions only from a restricted class of supersymmetric terms in the bulk effective action in  $AdS_4$ . In the terminology introduced in [8], the bulk deformations that affect the sphere free energy are chiral F-terms and flavor current terms. On the other hand,  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  is independent of bulk D-terms, 1/4-BPS terms, and non-chiral F-terms. At the two-derivative level in the bulk effective action, the only chiral F-terms are prepotential interactions, so in theories without flavor current terms, one concludes that the mass-deformed sphere free energy should be completely determined by the prepotential of the bulk supergravity theory on  $AdS_4$ .

In this paper we study SO(4)-invariant "domain wall" solutions of  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity theories with asymptotically  $AdS_4$  metrics, which are putatively dual to 3d  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  superconformal field theories (SCFTs) on  $S^3$  deformed by the mass parameters  $\mathfrak{m}$ . We conjecture a simple formula relating the classical prepotential of the theory to its mass-deformed free energy  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$ . Since the free energy can be viewed as an observable of the bulk theory, this formula should follow from the structure of the bulk Lagrangian, whether or not a theory has an AdS/CFT dual. The conjectured formula is verified in several explicit models with only vector multiplets, and in models with an added hypermultiplet. We next introduce the essential machinery of vector multiplet models needed to present our conjecture with details to be further explained in section 2.

#### 1.1 The conjecture

The Lagrangian of a model containing  $n_V$  vector multiplets is determined by its prepotential  $\mathcal{F}(X^I)$ , a homogeneous function of degree two, i.e.  $\mathcal{F}(\lambda X^I) = \lambda^2 \mathcal{F}(X^I)$ . The  $X^I$ , with  $I = 0, 1, \ldots n_V$ , are holomorphic projective coordinates of a special Kähler manifold of complex dimension  $n_V$ . The  $X^I$  are related to physical scalar fields  $\tau^{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha = 1, 2, \ldots, n_V$ , which provide intrinsic coordinates for this manifold. In Lorentzian signature, the fields  $\tau^{\alpha}$  have  $\bar{\tau}^{\bar{\alpha}}$  as their complex conjugates; however, in Euclidean signature the two sets of fields

are independent, and in order to emphasize this fact we use the notation  $\tilde{\tau}^{\tilde{\alpha}}$  instead of  $\bar{\tau}^{\bar{\alpha}}$ . The Kähler potential  $\mathcal{K}(\tau, \tilde{\tau})$  is determined by the prepotential. As usual, the Kähler metric is  $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} = \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\tilde{\beta}}\mathcal{K};^{1}$  the Kähler covariant derivative of  $X^{I}$  is  $\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I} = \partial_{\alpha}X^{I} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}X^{I},$ with  $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha} = \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{K}$ .

The conjecture may be stated in terms of the boundary limits of the quantities above,<sup>2</sup> and it employs a complex frame basis for the boundary Kähler metric

$$e^a_\alpha \tilde{e}^b_{\tilde{\beta}} \delta_{a\tilde{b}} = \mathcal{K}^*_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} \tag{1.1}$$

with frame fields  $e^a_{\alpha}$ , their inverses  $e^{\alpha}_a$ , and their conjugates  $\tilde{e}^{\tilde{b}}_{\tilde{\beta}}$ .<sup>3</sup> The physical real masses of the boundary CFT, called  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  in the frame basis, are related to the coefficients of nextto-leading terms in the boundary expansion of  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and its conjugate, as explained in more detail in the next section. The sphere free energy  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  can then be immediately obtained from the prepotential  $\mathcal{F}(X^I)$  via

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{2\pi i L^2}{G_N} \mathcal{F}(Y^I), \qquad Y^I \equiv X^I_* + \frac{i}{2} e^{\alpha}_a (\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_* \mathfrak{m}^a, \qquad (1.2)$$

where  $G_N$  is the 4d Newton constant. To resolve the projective ambiguity of the  $X^I$ , we impose the conditions

$$X_*^I = \tilde{X}_*^I, \qquad (\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_* = (\nabla_{\tilde{\alpha}} \tilde{X}^I)_*.$$
 (1.3)

The conjectured relation (1.2) provides a far simpler way to find the sphere free energy  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  than the traditional method which starts from the BPS equations of a given bulk theory. Next, one must obtain the BPS solutions which is never easy, often requiring numerical work. Then come holographic renormalization of the on-shell action, and implementation of a Legendre transform because the real mass deformation involves some operators whose bulk dual fields obey alternate quantization [9]. The conjecture delivers the same information simply by substituting  $X^I \to Y^I$  in the prepotential.

#### 1.2Background

That, at leading order in the supergravity approximation,  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  is related to the bulk prepotential had also been noticed in certain examples in [10] (see also [11] for a review). The logic described in [10] is as follows. First, in explicit 3d  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SCFTs with holographic duals where the sphere free energy scales as  $N^{3/2}$  or  $N^{5/3}$  at large N, it was noticed that, at leading order in 1/N, the mass-deformed sphere free energy and the topologically twisted index [12] on  $S^2 \times S^1$  are related. In particular, the sphere free energy and the "Bethe prepotential," which is an auxiliary quantity used in the index computation, are given by matrix models that can be derived using supersymmetric localization. At large N, these matrix models agree precisely up to normalization. Second, in supergravity, the topologically twisted index is computed by the entropy of certain extremal black holes. In the few

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We use the notation  $\partial_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau^{\alpha}}$  and  $\partial_{\tilde{\alpha}} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We use the subscript \* to indicate a quantity evaluated at the boundary, e.g.  $X_*^I$ ,  $(\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_*$ . <sup>3</sup>In all the examples we consider, we will be able to choose  $e^a_{\alpha}$  to be real, so  $\tilde{e}^a_{\tilde{\alpha}} = e^a_{\alpha}$ .

known top-down examples of such black holes, the attractor mechanism [13] implies that the Bethe prepotential agrees with the prepotential of the supergravity theory. Thus, in a set of examples where one knows both an explicit Lagrangian description of the SCFT and also the bulk dual of this SCFT in enough detail to construct supersymmetric black hole solutions, ref. [10] argued that the sphere free energy is proportional to the bulk prepotential. One can also incorporate gauged hypermultiplets, at least in principle. Indeed, in the attractor mechanism, hypermultiplets yield algebraic constraints [14, 15], which suggests that the equivalence between the sphere free energy and the bulk prepotential should hold provided that certain constraints associated with the hypermultiplets are obeyed.

A particularly simple and important example is an  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity theory with three vector multiplets, no hypermultiplets, and prepotential  $\mathcal{F} = -2i\sqrt{X^0X^1X^2X^3}$ . This theory can be embedded as a consistent truncation of  $\mathcal{N} = 8$  gauged supergravity and it has an  $AdS_4$  solution of curvature radius L. This theory thus describes a subsector of the  $U(N)_k \times U(N)_{-k}$  ABJM theory [16], when the Chern-Simons level is k = 1 or 2 and the ABJM theory has  $\mathcal{N} = 8$  superconformal symmetry. For ABJM theory at k = 1, it was shown in [17] that sphere free energy in this case takes the form  $F_{S^3} = \frac{4\pi N^{3/2}}{3}\sqrt{2\Delta_1\Delta_2\Delta_3\Delta_4}$ , where  $\Delta_i$  are the R-charges of the bifundamental fields of the theory obeying  $\sum_i \Delta_i = 2$ . (As mentioned above, the trial R-charges are related to the real mass deformations by analytic continuation.) Thus, in this case, it is clear that the sphere free energy is proportional to the prepotential, provided that one identifies the  $\Delta_I$  parameters with the  $X^I$ .

Part of our goal in this work is to show that it is possible to prove more directly the relation (1.2) between  $F_{S^3}(\mathfrak{m})$  and the bulk prepotential. Indeed, the relation (1.2) should follow solely from bulk physics, without invoking either the explicit form of the matrix models obtained after supersymmetric localization in the boundary theory, or the attractor mechanism, or the supersymmetric index computation. The sphere free energy can be viewed as an observable of the asymptotically AdS bulk theory, so the existence of an SCFT dual should not be necessary. In the case of ABJM theory, such a direct proof is in fact available: ref. [18] constructed asymptotically  $AdS_4$  backgrounds in 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 8$  gauged supergravity that are dual to mass deformations of ABJM theory on  $S^{3,4}$  The on-shell action of these solutions does reproduce the sphere free energy  $F_{S^3} = \frac{4\pi N^{3/2}}{3} \sqrt{2\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \Delta_3 \Delta_4}$ given above, and therefore the correspondence between the sphere free energy and the bulk prepotential is explicitly proven without making reference to the properties of the boundary SCFT. We will thus generalize the construction of [18] to other  $AdS_4$  supergravity theories and derive the relation (1.2) in the examples we study.<sup>5</sup>

This rest of this paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we introduce all the ingredients needed to compute the free energy for  $AdS_4$  supergravity theories with vector multiplets only, and we check that the direct computation of the free energy agrees with our conjecture in a few examples. In section 3 we state our conjecture for theories who contain hypermultiplets as well, and work out other examples with one added hypermultiplet. We

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>These solutions can be uplifted to solutions of eleven-dimensional supergravity.

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ For other examples where there is agreement between the sphere free energy and the bulk prepotential, see [19–22].

end with a discussion of our results and future directions in section 4. Several technical details are relegated to the appendices.

### 2 The free energy in the absence of hypermultiplets

#### 2.1 Setting up the computation

Let us begin by considering an  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity theory with  $n_V$  Abelian vector multiplets and no hypermultiplets. The construction of the bulk action for such a theory is well known, so we give a rather minimalist presentation based on Chapter 21 of [23]. With two exceptions, we adhere to the conventions of this reference:

- 1. The gravitational coupling  $1/\kappa^2 = 1/8\pi G_N$  is scaled out as an overall factor of the action. Thus scalar fields are dimensionless.
- 2. Starting in section 2.3, expressions valid in Lorentzian signature are converted to Euclidean signature. Quantities related by complex conjugation in Lorentzian quantum field theory are independent in Euclidean. We will use  $\tilde{X}^I$  rather than  $\bar{X}^I$  as a reminder of this fact, and the same for other quantities. We use the conventions for Euclidean supersymmetry from appendix A of [18].

There are  $n_V$  complex scalars  $\tau^{\alpha}$ , the "physical" fields, which parametrize a special Kähler manifold. The basic data of a specific model is contained in its prepotential  $\mathcal{F}(X^I)$ , with  $I = 0, \ldots, n_V$ , a homogeneous function of degree 2 in the  $X^I$  which determines the kinetic term and the scalar potential. To relate the  $X^I$  to the physical scalars, we use the homogeneous coordinates

$$X^{I} = yZ^{I}(\tau^{\alpha}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where the  $Z^{I}(\tau^{\alpha})$  are holomorphic functions.

To proceed toward the physical action we need the two matrices:<sup>6</sup>

$$N_{IJ} = -i(\mathcal{F}_{IJ} - \mathcal{F}_{IJ}) = 2\Im \mathcal{F}_{IJ} ,$$
  
$$\mathcal{N}_{IJ}(\tau, \bar{\tau}) = \bar{\mathcal{F}}_{IJ}(\bar{\tau}) + i \frac{N_{IK} Z^K(\tau) N_{JL} Z^L(\tau)}{N_{MN} Z^M(\tau) Z^N(\tau)} .$$
  
(2.2)

Note that  $\mathcal{F}_I = \mathcal{N}_{IJ} X^J$ . The Kähler potential is then defined by two equivalent formulas:

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = -i(Z^I \bar{\mathcal{F}}_I(\bar{Z}) - \bar{Z}^I \mathcal{F}_I(Z)) = -N_{IJ} Z^I \bar{Z}^J \equiv 1/y\bar{y}.$$

$$(2.3)$$

The last equality defines the product  $y\bar{y}$ , leaving the freedom to redefine  $y \to ty$ ,  $\bar{y} \to t^{-1}\bar{y}$ , with |t| = 1. As usual, the Kahler metric is  $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\bar{\beta}}\mathcal{K}$ . In our case of Abelian vector multiplets and no hypermultiplets, the scalar potential is given by

$$V(\tau,\bar{\tau}) = \left(-\frac{1}{2}\left(\Im\mathcal{N}\right)^{-1|IJ} - 4X^{I}\bar{X}^{J}\right)\vec{P}_{I}\cdot\vec{P}_{J}.$$
(2.4)

<sup>6</sup>Derivatives of the prepotential are indicated by subscripts, e.g.  $\mathcal{F}_I(X) = \frac{\partial \mathcal{F}(X)}{\partial X^I}$ .

The  $\vec{P}_I$  are triplet moment maps. If there are no hypermultiplets, they are the Fayet-Iliopoulos couplings and must point in a common direction fixed by the unit vector  $\hat{e}$ ; hence  $\vec{P}_I = g_I \hat{e}$  and  $\vec{P}_I \cdot \vec{P}_J = g_I g_J$  [24]. We will make the choice  $\hat{e} = (0, 0, 1)$ .

Since the domain wall solutions of our  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theories involve only scalars and no vectors, it is valid to truncate to an  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  description for which the formalism is far simpler (see Chapter 18 of [23]). The  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  truncation contains a graviton multiplet (consisting of the metric and a gravitino) and  $n_V$  chiral multiplets (each consisting of a complex scalar and a Weyl fermion). With the help of (20.190) of [23], the potential can be written in the standard form of an F-term interaction:

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} (-3W\bar{W} + \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\bar{\beta}} \nabla_{\alpha} W \nabla_{\bar{\beta}} \bar{W}), \qquad (2.5)$$

which contains the usual Kahler covariant derivative:

$$\nabla_{\alpha}W = \partial_{\alpha}W + (\partial_{\alpha}\mathcal{K})W. \qquad (2.6)$$

Comparing with (2.4), we see that the holomorphic superpotential is related to the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  data by

$$W(\tau) = g_I Z^I(\tau) \,. \tag{2.7}$$

We can now write the bosonic action of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  truncation (in mostly plus Lorentzian signature):

$$S_{\text{bulk}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \,\mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_N} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{R} - \mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} \partial_\mu \tau^\alpha \partial^\mu \bar{\tau}^{\bar{\beta}} - V(\tau, \bar{\tau}) \right]. \quad (2.8)$$

# 2.2 $AdS_4$ solution, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT interpretation, and alternate quantization

In the examples we study, the potential  $V(\tau, \bar{\tau})$  has a critical point at  $\tau^{\alpha} = \tau_*^{\alpha}$ ,  $\bar{\tau}^{\bar{\beta}} = \bar{\tau}_*^{\beta}$ , which yields an  $AdS_4$  solution of the theory (2.8), where

$$g_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}\big|_{\text{AdS}}, \qquad \tau^{\alpha} = \tau^{\alpha}_{*}, \qquad \bar{\tau}^{\bar{\beta}} = \bar{\tau}^{\bar{\beta}}_{*}, \qquad (2.9)$$

and all other fields vanish. This supersymmetric critical point is defined by the  $2n_V$  conditions  $\nabla_{\alpha}W = \nabla_{\bar{\beta}}\bar{W} = 0$ ; these, in turn, imply that  $\partial_{\alpha}V = \partial_{\bar{\beta}}V = 0$ . The value of the potential at the critical point is then related to the AdS curvature radius L by

$$V_* = \frac{-3}{L^2} = -3e^{\mathcal{K}_*}W(\tau_*)\bar{W}(\bar{\tau}_*)\,. \tag{2.10}$$

In the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theory that truncates to (2.8), the condition (2.10) reads  $\left|g_I X_*^I\right|^2 = 1/L^2$ , as can be seen from combining (2.10) with (2.1), (2.3), and (2.7). Here and in the following discussion, we denote with a subscript \* quantities evaluated at the critical point of the potential, namely  $X_*^I = X^I(\tau_*, \bar{\tau}_*)$ , etc. Upon using the transformation  $y \to ty, \bar{y} \to t^{-1}\bar{y}$ with |t| = 1, we can assume without loss of generality that

$$g_I X_*^I = g_I \bar{X}_*^I = \frac{1}{L} \,. \tag{2.11}$$

In the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theory, this AdS solution preserves eight linearly-independent supersymmetries. With the choice in (2.11), the Killing spinor equations obtained from the vanishing of the gravitino variations  $\delta \psi^i_{\mu} = \delta \psi_{i\mu} = 0$  (see eq. (21.42) of [23]) take the form

$$D_{\mu}\epsilon^{i} = -\frac{1}{2L}\gamma_{\mu}\tau_{3}^{ij}\epsilon_{j}, \qquad D_{\mu}\epsilon_{i} = -\frac{1}{2L}\gamma_{\mu}\tau_{3ij}\epsilon^{j}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where i, j are  $SU(2)_R$  indices raised and lowered<sup>7</sup> with the epsilon symbol, and  $(\tau_3)_i{}^j \equiv i(\sigma_3)_i{}^j$ .

Via the AdS/CFT duality, the  $AdS_4$  solution is dual to a 3d  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SCFT that lives on the boundary in cases where the model (2.15) can be obtained from a top-down string theory or M-theory construction. We do not attempt to embed the model (2.15) into tendimensional or eleven-dimensional supergravity, however, so the existence of a boundary SCFT is an assumption that we make. The fluctuations of the metric, scalar fields, gauge fields, gravitino, and fermions are dual to certain operators in the boundary SCFT. In particular, these operators belong to the stress tensor multiplet of the boundary SCFT, which is dual to the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  Weyl multiplet in the bulk, as well as  $n_V$  conserved current multiplets, which are dual to the  $n_V$  vector multiplets.

An important subtlety in the details of the AdS/CFT dictionary involves the boundary conditions on the scalar and fermion fields. The  $n_V$  vector multiplets contain  $2n_V$ real scalars and  $2n_V$  Majorana fermions. When expanded around the AdS solution to quadratic order, one can prove that all the scalar fields are conformally coupled, i.e. they have squared mass  $m^2 = -2/L^2$ , and all the fermions are massless — see appendix A. In AdS, scalar fields of this mass can obey regular boundary conditions or alternate boundary conditions depending on whether they are dual to boundary operators of dimension 2 or 1, respectively [9]. In fact, both cases should occur for us, because each of the  $n_V$  conserved current multiplets in the boundary theory contains a scalar superconformal primary  $J^{\alpha}$  of dimension 1 and another scalar conformal primary  $K^{\alpha}$  of dimension 2. The question then is: which scalar fields in the bulk obey regular boundary conditions, and which ones obey alternate boundary conditions? A similar question can be asked about the fermions. The massless bulk fermions correspond to dimension 3/2 operators in the boundary theory. In the bulk it is a priori not clear which boundary components of the fermions correspond to field theory sources and which ones correspond to VEVs. It is important that no similar ambiguity occurs for the gauge fields, gravitino, or the metric fluctuations, which all obey the regular quantization that identifies the coefficient of the leading behavior close to the boundary as the source for the dual boundary operator.

The boundary conditions for scalars and fermions can be determined by examining the asymptotic behavior of the fluctuations around the  $AdS_4$  solution and how the various coefficients in the asymptotic expansion transform under supersymmetry. The guiding principle is that, under supersymmetry, sources for boundary operators should transform into sources. Since we know which coefficients in the asymptotic expansions of the guage fields correspond to sources for the boundary conserved currents, the supersymmetry transformations would then determine which coefficients should be interpreted as sources for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>For details, see appendix 20A of [23].

operator	dual field	$\Delta$
$J^{lpha}$	$\Re  au^{lpha}$	1
$K^{\alpha}$	$\Im  au^lpha$	2

Table 1. Correspondence between bulk fields and boundary operators in the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SCFT.

fermions and the scalar fields as well. Note that  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supersymmetry is crucial in this case, because  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supersymmetry transformations do not relate scalars to gauge fields.

We perform the analysis outlined above in appendix B. For the scalar fields, the result is that

$$\mathcal{B}^{I} \equiv \Im\left((\tau^{\alpha} - \tau_{*}^{\alpha})(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*}\right)$$
(2.13)

should be quantized with regular quantization, while

$$\mathcal{A}^{I} \equiv \Re \left( (\tau^{\alpha} - \tau_{*}^{\alpha}) (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I})_{*} \right)$$
(2.14)

should obey alternate quantization. Alternatively, one can say that  $\Im(X^I - X_*^I)$  obeys regular boundary conditions while  $\Re(X^I - X_*^I)$  obeys alternate boundary conditions.

In practice and with no loss of generality, one can take  $\tau_*^{\alpha} = 0$  and  $(\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_*$  real, and then  $\Im \tau^{\alpha}$  will be regularly quantized while  $\Re \tau^{\alpha}$  will obey alternate quantization. In this simplified setup, the correspondence between bulk fields and SCFT operators is given in table 1. We will discuss the precise normalization of the boundary operators  $J^{\alpha}$  and  $K^{\alpha}$ later on in section 2.3.4.

#### 2.3 Solutions with sphere slicing

In the rest of this section we work in Euclidean signature, where the action (2.8) becomes

$$S_{\text{bulk}} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_N} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{R} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} \partial_\mu \tau^\alpha \partial^\mu \tilde{\tau}^{\tilde{\beta}} + V(\tau, \tilde{\tau}) \right].$$
(2.15)

As mentioned in the Introduction, we are interested in constructing classical solutions of the theory (2.15) that correspond to real mass deformations of the putative dual  $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT on  $S^3$ . Such solutions have an SO(4)-invariant asymptotically AdS metric tensor that conforms to the ansatz (see [18]):

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} e^{2A(r)} ds_{S^{3}}^{2} + e^{2B(r)} dr^{2}.$$
(2.16)

The frame fields are

$$e^{i} = Le^{A(r)}\hat{e}^{i}$$
  $e^{4} = e^{B(r)}dr$ , (2.17)

where the index *i* runs over i = 1, 2, 3 and the  $\hat{e}^i$  are a choice of  $S^3$  frame fields. With  $\hat{\omega}^{ij}$  denoting an  $S^3$  connection, the spin connection for (2.17) is

$$\omega^{ij} = \hat{\omega}^{ij}, \qquad \omega^{i4} = A' e^{-B} e^i.$$
 (2.18)

It is redundant to specify two radial functions in (2.16), but it is convenient since we will use two different gauges. The conformally flat (CF) gauge, with  $e^{B(r)} = \frac{L}{r}e^{A(r)}$ , is

somewhat more convenient in the search for analytic solutions of the BPS equations, while the Fefferman-Graham (FG) gauge, with  $B = \log L$ , is better suited for numerics and for holographic renormalization.

The scalar fields  $\tau(r)$ ,  $\tilde{\tau}(r)$  of the domain wall approach a supersymmetric critical point of the potential (2.5) at the AdS boundary, i.e.  $\tau^{\alpha}(r) \to \tau^{\alpha}_{*}$ ,  $\tilde{\tau}^{\tilde{\beta}}(r) \to \tilde{\tau}^{\tilde{\beta}}_{*}$  as  $r \to \infty$ in the FG gauge. The real mass parameters appear in the asymptotic expansion close to the boundary of the fields  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$ , as made explicit below.

#### 2.3.1 The BPS equations

The next item of business is the BPS equations satisfied by supersymmetric SO(4)-invariant solutions of the theory. These are first order partial differential equations derived from the requirement that SUSY variations of the fermions vanish. Any solution of the BPS equations is also a solution of the bosonic equations of motion. Our discussion follows the treatment in [18]. In the Euclidean signature  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  truncation of a theory without hypermultiplets, the BPS equations are

$$\delta\psi_{\mu} = \left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\sigma_{[a}\bar{\sigma}_{b]} - \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{A}_{\mu}\right)\epsilon + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{\mu}e^{\mathcal{K}/2}W\tilde{\epsilon} = 0,$$
  

$$\delta\tilde{\psi}_{\mu} = \left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\bar{\sigma}_{[a}\sigma_{b]} + \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{A}_{\mu}\right)\tilde{\epsilon} + \frac{1}{2}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}e^{\mathcal{K}/2}\tilde{W}\epsilon = 0,$$
  

$$\delta\chi^{\alpha} = \sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\tau^{\alpha}\tilde{\epsilon} - e^{\mathcal{K}/2}g^{\alpha\beta}\tilde{\nabla}_{\beta}\tilde{W}\epsilon = 0,$$
  

$$\delta\tilde{\chi}^{\beta} = \bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\tau}^{\beta}\epsilon - e^{\mathcal{K}/2}g^{\alpha\beta}\nabla_{\alpha}W\tilde{\epsilon} = 0,$$
  
(2.19)

where  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu}$  is the Kähler connection,  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu} = \frac{i}{2} \left( \partial_{\mu} \tau^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{K} - \partial_{\mu} \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} \tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} \mathcal{K} \right).$ 

We are interested in solutions where the scalars  $\tau^{\alpha}(r)$  are strictly radial and the frame and connection come from (2.16)–(2.18) above. The 2-component spinors  $\epsilon$  and  $\tilde{\epsilon}$  are Killing spinors. Due to rotational symmetry, a given solution has either the structure  $\epsilon = i(r)\zeta$ ,  $\tilde{\epsilon} = \tilde{i}(r)\zeta$  or  $\epsilon = j(r)\xi$ ,  $\tilde{\epsilon} = \tilde{j}(r)\xi$ , where  $\zeta$ ,  $\xi$  are Killing spinors of  $S^3$  and satisfy

$$\nabla_i \zeta = \frac{i}{2} \sigma_i \zeta , \qquad \nabla_i \xi = -\frac{i}{2} \sigma_i \xi . \qquad (2.20)$$

The choice of the  $\zeta$  or  $\xi$  structures determines whether the solution is invariant under the left or right SU(2) factor of the isometry group of the sphere, SO(4) = SU(2)<sub>l</sub> × SU(2)<sub>r</sub>. We choose the  $\zeta$  structure and look for solutions of the BPS equations in this case. (In solutions with the  $\xi$  structure, the roles of  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  are switched.)

We now group the BPS equations for the spin 1/2 fermions and the gravitinos (for  $\mu = i \ 1, 2, \text{ or } 3$ ) into a  $(2n_V + 2) \times 2$  dimensional matrix. After insertion of A(r), B(r) from (2.16) and (2.17) and use of (2.20), we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 + LA'e^{A-B} & -iLe^{A}We^{\mathcal{K}/2} \\ -iLe^{A}\tilde{W}e^{\mathcal{K}/2} & 1 - LA'e^{A-B} \\ -e^{\mathcal{K}/2}\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}\tilde{\nabla}_{\beta}\tilde{W} & -ie^{-B}(\tau^{\alpha})' \\ ie^{-B}(\tilde{\tau}^{\beta})' & -e^{\mathcal{K}/2}\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}\nabla_{\alpha}W \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon \\ \tilde{\epsilon} \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
(2.21)

A non-trivial solution of these equations is possible only if all  $2 \times 2$  minors of this matrix vanish. In this way we look for solutions for the scalar fields  $\tau^{\alpha}$ ,  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  and the metric functions. Once this is achieved, we can rewrite the BPS equations  $\delta\psi_r = 0$  and  $\delta\tilde{\psi}_r = 0$  as the  $2 \times 2$  linear system that determines the spinors  $\epsilon$  and  $\tilde{\epsilon}$ 

$$\partial_r \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon \\ \tilde{\epsilon} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}i\mathcal{A}_r & \frac{i}{2}e^BWe^{\mathcal{K}/2} \\ -\frac{i}{2}e^B\tilde{W}e^{\mathcal{K}/2} & -\frac{1}{2}i\mathcal{A}_r \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon \\ \tilde{\epsilon} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.22)

#### 2.3.2 Computation of the renormalized on-shell action:

The next step in the evaluation of the sphere free energy is to compute the on-shell action obtained by substitution of a solution of the field equations, in our case a solution of the BPS equations, in the bulk action  $S_{\text{bulk}}$  of (2.15). However, the radial integral diverges near the AdS boundary. So the integral must be cut off at  $r = r_c$  and boundary counterterms added to cancel the divergences. This is the well known process of holographic renormalization [25], adapted to our application in section 6.1 of [18].

As usual when working in a spacetime with boundary, we introduce the Gibbons-Hawking-York term

$$S_{\rm GHY} = -\frac{1}{8\pi G_N} \int_{\partial} d^3x \sqrt{h} K \Big|_{r=r_c} , \qquad (2.23)$$

where  $h_{ij}$  is the induced metric at the cutoff and K is the trace of the extrinsic curvature.<sup>8</sup> Its role is to provide a well defined variational principle for the  $\sqrt{g}R$  term in the bulk Lagrangian. We then need two other counterterms, the first because the boundary metric is curved with Ricci scalar  $\mathcal{R}_h = 24e^{-2r_c}/L^2$ :

$$S_h = \frac{L}{16\pi G_N} \int_{\partial} d^3x \, \sqrt{h} \,\mathcal{R}_h \Big|_{r=r_c} \,. \tag{2.24}$$

The second is needed to cancel divergences while maintaining supersymmetry:

$$S_{\rm SUSY} = \int_{\partial} d^3x \sqrt{h} \mathcal{L}_{\rm SUSY} = \frac{1}{4\pi G_N} \int_{\partial} d^3x \sqrt{h} e^{\mathcal{K}/2} |W| \Big|_{r=r_c} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

Let us begin to put these ingredients together, working with the redundant metric (2.16). The goal is to obtain an integral formula for the sum of the on-shell action plus the three counterterms which converges at short and long distances and depends only on the metric functions A(r), B(r). Since fields and metric depend only on r, the integration over coordinates of  $S^3$  produces the volume factor of  $h_{0ij}$  which is  $2\pi^2$ . The first step is to take  $S_{\text{bulk}} + S_{\text{GHY}}$  and integrate by parts to cancel the A'' term. The boundary term is cancelled by the counterterm, leaving

$$S_{\text{bulk}} + S_{\text{GHY}} = \frac{\pi L}{4G_N} \int_{r_{\text{IR}}}^{r_c} dr e^{A+B} \left[ -3\left(1 + (e^{A-B}LA')^2\right) + L^2 e^{2A} \left(e^{-2B}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\beta}\partial_r \tau^\alpha \partial_r \tilde{\tau}^\beta + V\right) \right].$$

$$(2.26)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In the FG gauge, where the metric behaves asymptotically as  $ds^2 = L^2 \left( dr^2 + \frac{e^{2r}}{4} d\Omega_{S^3}^2 \right)$ , then the induced metric is  $h_{ij} = (Le^{r_c}/2)^2 h_{0ij}$ , where  $h_{0ij}$  is a metric on the unit sphere. Then  $K = L^{-1} \partial_{r_c} \log \sqrt{h}$ .

The Euler variation of this expression with respect to A(r) then produces

$$L^{2}e^{2A+2B}(e^{-2B}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{r}\tau^{\alpha}\partial_{r}\tilde{\tau}^{\beta}+V) = e^{2B} - L^{2}e^{2A}\left(3(A')^{2} - 2A'B' + 2A''\right).$$
(2.27)

We insert this in the integrand of (2.26), which then reads

$$S_{\text{bulk}} + S_{\text{GHY}}|_{\text{on-shell}} = -\frac{\pi L}{2G_N} \int_{r_{\text{IR}}}^{r_c} dr \, e^{A+B} \left[ 1 + L^2 e^{2A-2B} (3(A')^2 - A'B' + A'') \right] \,. \tag{2.28}$$

Now let's look at the counterterms. We can simplify  $S_{SUSY}$  using the BPS equations. In particular the vanishing of the determinant of the first two lines of (2.21) gives the equation

$$1 - (LA'e^{A-B})^2 + L^2 e^{2A} e^{\mathcal{K}} W \tilde{W} = 0.$$
(2.29)

Thus we can write

$$S_{\text{SUSY}} = \frac{1}{4\pi G_N} \int_{S^3} d^3x \,\sqrt{h} \, e^{\mathcal{K}/2} |W| \Big|_{r=r_c} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ e^{2A} \sqrt{(LA'e^{A-B})^2 - 1} \right]_{r=r_c} \,. \tag{2.30}$$

Similarly,

$$S_h = \frac{\pi L^2}{8G_N} 3e^{A(r_c)} \,. \tag{2.31}$$

The sum of  $S_{\text{bulk}}$  plus all counterterms can then be written as

$$S_{\text{reg}} = -\frac{\pi L}{2G_N} \lim_{r_c \to r_{\text{UV}}} \left( \int_{r_{\text{IR}}}^{r_c} dr \, e^{A+B} \left[ 1 + L^2 e^{2A-2B} (3(A')^2 - A'B' + A'') \right] - Le^{3A} \left[ \frac{3}{2} e^{-2A} + \sqrt{(LA'e^{-B})^2 - e^{-2A}} \right]_{r=r_c} \right).$$

$$(2.32)$$

Further simplification occurs in the FG gauge, where  $B = \log L$ . We can use the asymptotic form of A for large r,

$$e^{2A} = \frac{e^{2r}}{4} + \text{constant} + \dots,$$
 (2.33)

to further simplify the boundary term

$$e^{3A} \left[ \frac{3}{2} e^{-2A} + \sqrt{(A')^2 - e^{-2A}} \right] \sim e^{3A} A' + e^A + O(e^{-r}) \,. \tag{2.34}$$

Then (2.32) becomes

$$S_{\rm reg} = -\frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \lim_{r_c \to \infty} \left[ \int_0^{r_c} dr \left( e^A \left( 1 + 3e^{2A} (A')^2 + e^{2A} A'' \right) \right) - e^A \left( e^{2A} A' + 1 \right) \Big|_{r_c} \right]$$
(2.35)

We can write the boundary term as an integral of a total derivative, with no contribution in the IR, since  $e^{A(r)} \sim r$  as  $r \to 0$  is required for a non-singular bulk metric. Sweet cancellations occur and we are left with the convergent final result for the renormalized on-shell action:

$$S_{\rm reg} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \int_0^\infty dr \, e^A (A' - 1) \,. \tag{2.36}$$

#### 2.3.3 Legendre transform

It might be tempting to identify  $S_{\rm reg}$  with the sphere free energy, but one needs to be careful because, as discussed in section 2.2, some of the bulk scalar fields are dual to boundary operators of dimension 1 and therefore require alternate quantization. Working under the simplifying assumptions  $\tau_*^{\alpha} = 0$  and  $(\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_*$  real mentioned at the end of section 2.2, the fields requiring alternate quantization are  $\tau^{\alpha} + \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$ ; these fields are the Euclidean continuations of  $2\Re\tau^{\alpha}$  from Lorentzian signature. As instructed by [9], the free energy in the boundary theory is given by the Legendre transform of  $S_{\rm reg}$  with respect to the leading coefficients in the asymptotic expansions of  $\tau^{\alpha} + \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$ .

In more detail, a general SO(4)-invariant solution of the second order equations of motion in the FG gauge has, close to the boundary, the following asymptotic form

$$\tau^{\alpha} = a^{\alpha}e^{-r} + b^{\alpha}e^{-2r} + \dots,$$
  

$$\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = \tilde{a}^{\alpha}e^{-r} + \tilde{b}^{\alpha}e^{-2r} + \dots.$$
(2.37)

The on-shell action  $S_{\text{reg}}$  is naturally a function of  $(a^{\alpha}, \tilde{a}^{\alpha})$  (as well as other boundary sources) because when deriving the second order equations of motion from the Lagrangian, one has to hold  $(a^{\alpha}, \tilde{a}^{\alpha})$  fixed. The alternate quantization procedure amounts to a Legendre transformation that takes us from  $S_{\text{reg}}(a^{\alpha}, \tilde{a}^{\alpha})$  to a function of  $a^{\alpha} - \tilde{a}^{\alpha}$  and the canonically conjugate variable to  $a^{\alpha} + \tilde{a}^{\alpha}$ :

$$F_{S^3} = S_{\rm reg}(a^{\alpha}, \tilde{a}^{\alpha}) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha} (a^{\alpha} + \tilde{a}^{\alpha}) \left(\frac{\partial S_{\rm reg}}{\partial a^{\alpha}} + \frac{\partial S_{\rm reg}}{\partial \tilde{a}^{\alpha}}\right) \,.$$
(2.38)

This is our final formula that we will evaluate in several examples below. To compute the variations of  $S_{\text{reg}}$  with respect to the  $a^{\alpha}$ 's, it is convenient to use the fact that

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}}{\partial a^{\alpha}} = 2\pi^2 L^3 \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-r} e^{3A} \left( L \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial (\partial_r \tau^{\alpha})} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{SUSY}}}{\partial \tau^{\alpha}} \right) , \qquad (2.39)$$

which will be written out explicitly on a case by case basis.

#### 2.3.4 Real mass deformation in the boundary theory

Let us now make the connection between the asymptotic expansion (2.37) and the boundary real mass parameters  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  appearing in our conjecture (1.2). As already mentioned, our work does not necessarily assume that the bulk supergravity theory is dual to a boundary QFT, so the boundary mass parameters  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  written below can simply be taken as a definition. However, in cases where there is a boundary dual description, the definition of  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  is motivated by the field theory description, so let us take that perspective in the following discussion.

As discussed in section 2.2, each vector multiplet in the bulk corresponds to a conserved current multiplet, which contains scalar operators of dimension 1 and 2. Let us denote these scalar operators by  $J^a$  and  $K^a$  and normalize them so that, in flat space, they give the two-point functions

$$\langle J^a(\vec{x})J^b(0)\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{C}\delta^{ab}}{16\pi^2 |\vec{x}|^2}, \qquad \mathcal{C} \equiv \frac{L^2}{2\pi G_N}$$
$$\langle K^a(\vec{x})K^b(0)\rangle = \frac{\mathcal{C}\delta^{ab}}{8\pi^2 |\vec{x}|^4}.$$
(2.40)

With this normalization, after mapping these operators to an  $S^3$  of unit radius, we can write the real mass deformation as [7]

$$\sum_{a} \mathfrak{m}^{a} \int_{S^{3}} d^{3}\vec{x} \sqrt{g(\vec{x})} \left[ i J^{a}(\vec{x}) + K^{a}(\vec{x}) \right] \,. \tag{2.41}$$

In particular, the mass parameters  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  are sources for the dimension 2 operators  $K^a$ . Thus, they must be linear combinations of the coefficients of  $e^{-r}$  in the boundary expansion of  $\tau^{\alpha} - \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$ , since it is the  $\tau^{\alpha} - \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  fields that are regularly quantized.

In order to relate the boundary mass parameters to the asymptotic expansions (2.37), we first rescale the scalar fields  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  so that, close to the boundary, they become canonically normalized. This is achieved by defining

$$\tau^a \equiv e^a_\alpha \tau^\alpha, \qquad \tilde{\tau}^a \equiv e^a_\alpha \tilde{\tau}^\alpha, \qquad (2.42)$$

where the frame fields are defined in (1.1), and we assumed that  $e^a_{\alpha}$  is real, as will be the case in all our examples. Because  $\tau^{\alpha} - \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  is regularly quantized then so is  $\tau^a - \tilde{\tau}^a$ . This means that the coefficient of  $e^{-r}$  in the large r expansion of  $\tau^a - \tilde{\tau}^a$  is proportional to the source for the dual operator  $K^a = e^a_{\alpha} K^{\alpha}$ , which is the mass parameter  $\mathfrak{m}^a$ . In particular, we define

$$\mathfrak{m}^a = e^a_\alpha \frac{a^\alpha - \tilde{a}^\alpha}{2i} \,. \tag{2.43}$$

Here, the normalization was chosen in a way consistent with (2.40)-(2.41). In particular, from (2.41), it follows that to quadratic order in the small  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  expansion, we have<sup>9</sup>

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Re F_{S^3}}{\partial \mathfrak{m}^a \partial \mathfrak{m}^b} = \int_{S^3} d^3 \vec{x} \sqrt{g(\vec{x})} \int_{S^3} d^3 \vec{y} \sqrt{g(\vec{y})} \left[ \langle J^a(\vec{x}) J^b(\vec{y}) \rangle - \langle K^a(\vec{x}) K^b(\vec{y}) \rangle \right] .$$
(2.44)

With (2.40), the integrals over  $S^3$  can be performed as in [7] with the result

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Re F_{S^3}}{\partial \mathfrak{m}^a \partial \mathfrak{m}^b} = \delta^{ab} \frac{\pi^2}{2} \mathcal{C} = \delta^{ab} \frac{L^2 \pi}{4G_N} \,. \tag{2.45}$$

We will see that the normalization in (2.43) ensures that (2.45) is obeyed in all models we study.

With this definition, the sphere free energy  $F_{S^3}$  from (2.38) can be expressed in terms of  $\mathfrak{m}^a$ . As we will see in the examples below, the frame vectors  $e^a_{\alpha}$  will cancel in all practical computations, and the free energy will take a simpler form in terms of  $\mathfrak{m}^a$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>We take the real part of  $F_{S^3}$  because, as explained in [7], the imaginary part may also receive schemedependent contributions from contact terms in the  $\langle J^a K^b \rangle$  correlators.

#### 2.3.5 Independence of the FI parameters

When written in terms of  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  and L, the free energy  $F_{S^3}$  should not depend on the FI parameters  $g_I$ . As discussed in the Introduction, this follows from the general arguments presented recently in [8], and we will check it for generic  $g_I$  in examples in sections 2.4 and 2.5 and appendix C. One practical consequence is that if we are interested in the expression for  $F_{S^3}$  in a given supergravity theory, we do not have to compute it for arbitrary  $g_I$ . Instead, we can compute it for a convenient choice of  $g_I$  that simplifies the computation.

# 2.4 $\mathcal{F} = \frac{i}{4} \eta_{IJ} X^I X^J$

The first example we study is a model with  $n_V$  multiplets, described by the quadratic prepotential

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{i}{4} \eta_{IJ} X^I X^J \,, \tag{2.46}$$

where  $I = 0, ..., n_V$  and  $\eta_{IJ} = \text{diag}(-, +, ..., +)$ . Black hole solutions in this model were studied in [26]. It is convenient to parametrize the  $Z^I$  coordinates as

$$Z^{I} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{g_{0}}\vec{g} \cdot \vec{\tau}, \tau^{i} - \frac{g_{i}}{g_{0}}\right), \qquad (2.47)$$

where  $i = 1, ..., n_V$  and the scalar product denotes  $\vec{g} \cdot \vec{\tau} = g_i \tau^i$ . This parametrization was chosen after some exploration; one advantage is that the fields  $\tau^i$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^i$  vanish at the AdS boundary (as we will see).

Using the formulae in section 2.1, we find that

$$\mathcal{F}_I(Z) = \frac{i}{2} Z_I \,, \tag{2.48}$$

where the I index of  $Z^{I}$  is lowered by  $\eta_{IJ}$ , and the Kähler potential is

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = -Z^{I}\bar{Z}_{I} = \frac{g^{2} + |\vec{g}\cdot\vec{\tau}|^{2} - g_{0}^{2}|\vec{\tau}|^{2}}{g_{0}^{2}}, \qquad (2.49)$$

with  $g^2 \equiv -g_I g_J \eta^{IJ}$ . Another advantage of the choice (2.47) is that the superpotential is particularly simple,

$$W = g_I Z^I = \frac{g^2}{g_0} \,. \tag{2.50}$$

The scalar potential, computed using (2.5), is

$$V = -g^2 \frac{3g^2 + |\vec{g} \cdot \vec{\tau}|^2 - g_0^2 |\vec{\tau}|^2}{g^2 + |\vec{g} \cdot \vec{\tau}|^2 - g_0^2 |\vec{\tau}|^2} = -g^2 \left[ 3 + 2 \frac{g_0^2 |\tau|^2 - |\vec{g} \cdot \tau|^2}{g^2 - g_0^2 |\tau|^2 + |\vec{g} \cdot \tau|^2} \right].$$
(2.51)

The unique extremum<sup>10</sup> of the potential is at  $\tau^i = 0$ , where it takes the value (see (2.10)):

$$V_* = -3g^2 = -3/L^2 \,. \tag{2.52}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This extremum is a maximum, and the mass eigenvalues are  $m^2 = -2/L^2$ , as expected for the scalars of vector multiplets.

This determines the radius of AdS as a function of the couplings, and we require  $g^2 > 0$ , as appropriate for AdS.

We now have all the ingredients needed to search for non-trivial solutions of the BPS equations. We consider the 2 × 2 minors of (2.21) as well as the equations of motion obtained by extremizing (2.15). The first step is to set up a series expansion around r = 0, and solve for the first few orders. We require regularity at the origin; the scalars  $\tau^i$  are finite at r = 0 while  $e^A(r) \sim r$  in the CF coordinates that we use. In this model the series expansion allows us to guess the full solutions. The non-trivial solution to the BPS equations (2.21) and (2.22) is

$$\tau^{\alpha} = c^{\alpha}(1 - r^2), \qquad \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e^{2A} = \frac{4r^2}{(1 - r^2)^2}, \qquad (2.53)$$

with  $c^{\alpha}$  arbitrary constants, and the Killing spinors are

$$\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon \\ \tilde{\epsilon} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - r^2}} \begin{pmatrix} r \\ -i \end{pmatrix} \zeta.$$
 (2.54)

If we were to consider the Killing spinors proportional to  $\xi$  (see (2.20)), then we would find a solution with the  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  swapped.

The metric tensor of this solution is undeformed Euclidean AdS. There is no backreaction on the metric, despite the presence of non-constant scalar fields. This might seem surprising at first, but it is allowed in Euclidean signature because the fields  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  are independent. The scalar stress tensor contains only products such as  $\tau^{\alpha}\tilde{\tau}^{\beta}$  or  $\partial_{\mu}\tau^{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\tau}^{\beta}$ . Since the  $\tilde{\tau}$  fields vanish, there is no back-reaction on the metric. This behavior would not be possible in Lorentzian signature where  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  and  $\tau^{\alpha}$  are related by complex conjugation.

We now compute the free energy of the boundary theory. For this we pass to the FG gauge, via the coordinate transformation is  $r \to \tanh r/2$ , and evaluate (2.36). The transformed metric is

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} \left( dr^{2} + e^{2A(r)} \ ds^{2}_{S^{3}} \right) .$$
(2.55)

and the BPS solutions are

$$\tau^{\alpha} = c^{\alpha} \operatorname{sech}^{2} \frac{r}{2}, \qquad \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e^{2A} = \sinh^{2} r. \qquad (2.56)$$

We get

$$S_{\rm reg} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \,. \tag{2.57}$$

The next step is the Legendre transform. To prepare for this we record the asymptotic form of the scalars and identify  $a^{\alpha}$  and  $b^{\alpha}$ :

$$\tau^{\alpha} = 4c^{\alpha}e^{-r} - 8c^{\alpha}e^{-2r} + \dots \equiv a^{\alpha}e^{-r} + b^{\alpha}e^{-2r}.$$
 (2.58)

Since the  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  vanish, the general form in (2.38) reduces to

$$F_{S^3} = S_{\text{reg}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha} a^{\alpha} \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}}{\partial \tilde{a}^{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.59}$$

We then use the "conjugate" of (2.39),

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}}{\partial \tilde{a}^{\alpha}} = 2\pi^2 L^3 \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-r} e^{3A} \left( L \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial (\partial_r \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha})} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{SUSY}}}{\partial \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}} \right) = \frac{\pi L^4}{32G_N} \left( -g_0^2 b^{\alpha} + g_{\alpha} \sum_{\gamma} g_{\gamma} b^{\gamma} \right).$$
(2.60)

We insert this information in (2.59) and, using  $g^2 = L^{-2}$  as well, we write the free energy of this model as

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 - \frac{1}{g^2} \left( g_0^2 \, \vec{c} \cdot \vec{c} - \left( \vec{g} \cdot \vec{c} \right)^2 \right) \right] \,. \tag{2.61}$$

We observe that the quadratic expression above involves the boundary Kähler metric, which is real,

$$\mathcal{K}^*_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} = \frac{1}{g^2} \left( g_0^2 \delta_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} - g_\alpha g_\beta \right) = e^a_\alpha \delta_{ab} e^b_\beta, \tag{2.62}$$

whose frame field form from (1.1) is given in the final equality. Using this, we can recast (2.61) as

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 - \vec{c} \cdot \mathcal{K}^* \cdot \vec{c} \right] \,. \tag{2.63}$$

Next, we combine (2.43) and (2.58) to express  $c^{\alpha}$  in terms of the real mass parameters:

$$c^{\alpha} = \frac{i}{2} e^{\alpha}_{a} \mathfrak{m}^{a} \,. \tag{2.64}$$

Using  $e^{\alpha}_{a}e^{b}_{\alpha} = \delta^{b}_{a}$ , the free energy becomes

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{4} \vec{\mathfrak{m}} \cdot \vec{\mathfrak{m}} \right] \,. \tag{2.65}$$

No trace of the frame field and thus no trace of the  $g_I$  couplings remains in the final formula, in agreement with the discussion in section 2.3.5.

Comparison with the conjecture. We now reproduce the result (2.65) from the conjecture (1.2). The only ingredients needed are

$$X_*^I = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g^2}}(g_0, -g_i), \qquad (2.66)$$

$$(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g^{2}}}(-g_{\alpha}, g_{0}\delta^{i}_{\alpha}). \qquad (2.67)$$

Using  $X_*^I \eta_{IJ} X_*^J = -1$ ,  $X_*^I \eta_{IJ} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^J)_* = 0$  and  $(\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_* \eta_{IJ} (\nabla_{\beta} X^I)_* = -\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\beta}^*$ , we evaluate the prepotential as instructed in (1.2), obtaining

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{2\pi i L^2}{G_N} \mathcal{F}(Y^I) = -\frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \eta_{IJ} Y^I Y^J = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{4} \vec{\mathfrak{m}} \cdot \vec{\mathfrak{m}} \right].$$
(2.68)

This agrees with (2.65) and thus verifies the conjecture.

# $2.5 \quad \mathcal{F} = -2i\sqrt{X^0X^1X^2X^3}$

We now discuss the holographic free energy for the STU model which includes three vector multiplets and is described by the prepotential

$$\mathcal{F} = -2i\sqrt{X^0 X^1 X^2 X^3} \,. \tag{2.69}$$

The  $S^3$  free energy for the specific choice of equal couplings  $g_I$  was first calculated in [18] without use of the prepotential.<sup>11</sup> We review that calculation briefly, with emphasis on the role of the prepotential and our conjectured relation with the free energy, and afterwards we generalize this computation to the case of non-equal couplings.

### 2.5.1 All couplings equal

Following [27], we parametrize the  $Z^I$  as

$$Z^{I} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (1+\tau^{1})(1+\tau^{2})(1+\tau^{3})\\ (1+\tau^{1})(1-\tau^{2})(1-\tau^{3})\\ (1-\tau^{1})(1+\tau^{2})(1-\tau^{3})\\ (1-\tau^{1})(1-\tau^{2})(1+\tau^{3}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.70)

The formula (2.3) gives the Kahler potential.

$$e^{\mathcal{K}} = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} \frac{1}{1 - |\tau^{\alpha}|^2} \,. \tag{2.71}$$

For the specific choice of equal couplings, the superpotential (2.7) is

$$W = \sqrt{2}g \left(1 + \tau^{1}\tau^{2}\tau^{3}\right), \qquad (2.72)$$

which agrees with [18]. The scalar potential (2.5) has a supersymmetric critical point at  $\tau^{\alpha} = \bar{\tau}^{\alpha} = 0$ , with AdS scale  $L = 1/\sqrt{2}g$ . These are all the ingredients needed to find the solutions of the BPS equations discussed in section 5 of [18]. In the conformally flat gauge, the solutions are

$$\tau^{\alpha} = c^{\alpha} \frac{1 - r^2}{1 + c^1 c^2 c^3 r^2}, \qquad \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = -\frac{c^1 c^2 c^3}{c^{\alpha}} \frac{1 - r^2}{1 + c^1 c^2 c^3 r^2}, e^{2A} = \frac{4r^2 (1 + c^1 c^2 c^3) (1 + c^1 c^2 c^3 r^4)}{(1 - r^2)^2 (1 + c^1 c^2 c^3 r^2)^2}.$$

$$(2.73)$$

The final result of [18] is the sphere free energy, which is the Legendre transform renormalized on-shell action:

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \frac{(1 - (c^1)^2)(1 - (c^2)^2)(1 - (c^3)^2)}{(1 + c^1 c^2 c^3)^2} \,. \tag{2.74}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>When the couplings  $g_I$  are equal, this model can be obtained as a consistent truncation of 4d SO(8) gauged supergravity. Ref. [18] used it to compute the holographic dual of the mass deformation of the  $S^3$  free energy for ABJM theory [16].

In [18], this was shown to agree with the free energy in the dual SCFT, obtained by the method of supersymmetric localization in [17].

Now we can identify the boundary real mass parameter in terms of the bulk quantities  $c^{\alpha}$ . We make a coordinate transformation to go to the FG gauge. Its near boundary form is

$$r \to 1 - 2e^{-r} + 2e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-3r}).$$
 (2.75)

In this gauge, the scalar fields close to the boundary behave as

$$\tau^{\alpha} \equiv a^{\alpha} e^{-r} + \dots = \frac{4c^{\alpha}}{1 + c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}e^{-r} + \dots$$
  

$$\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} \equiv \tilde{a}^{\alpha} e^{-r} + \dots = -\frac{4c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}{c^{\alpha}(1 + c^{1}c^{2}c^{3})}e^{-r} + \dots$$
(2.76)

A simplification occurs in our model, since the Kähler metric is the identity at the boundary, so we can choose our frame fields to be  $e_a^{\alpha} = \delta_a^{\alpha}$ . This means that

$$\mathfrak{m}^{\alpha} = \frac{c^{\alpha} - \tilde{c}^{\alpha}}{2i} = \frac{2}{i} \frac{c^{\alpha} + \frac{c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}{c^{\alpha}}}{1 + c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}.$$
(2.77)

Now that we have all the ingredients to relate  $c^{\alpha}$  and  $\mathfrak{m}^{\alpha}$ , we find that

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \sqrt{\left[1 + \frac{i}{2} \left(\mathfrak{m}^1 + \mathfrak{m}^2 + \mathfrak{m}^3\right)\right] \left[1 + \frac{i}{2} \left(\mathfrak{m}^1 - \mathfrak{m}^2 - \mathfrak{m}^3\right)\right] \left[1 + \frac{i}{2} \left(-\mathfrak{m}^1 + \mathfrak{m}^2 - \mathfrak{m}^3\right)\right] \left[1 + \frac{i}{2} \left(-\mathfrak{m}^1 - \mathfrak{m}^2 + \mathfrak{m}^3\right)\right]}.$$
(2.78)

As discussed in section 1.2, the free energy of ABJM theory with trial R-charges was computed in [17], and found to be  $F_{S^3} \sim \sqrt{\Delta_1 \Delta_2 \Delta_3 \Delta_4}$ , where  $\Delta_j$  are the R-charges of the scalar fields transforming as bifundamentals of the U(N) × U(N) gauge group. The four terms under the square root in (2.78) are proportional to these R-charges when we choose pure imaginary mass parameters.<sup>12</sup>

Comparison with the conjecture. In this model the algebra needed to investigate the conjecture is quite simple, yet instructive, so we will outline the process. Given (2.70) and (2.71), we have the boundary values

$$X_*^I = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} (1, 1, 1, 1)^T, \qquad (2.79)$$

and

Then, remembering that the boundary Kähler metric is flat, and therefore  $e_a^{\alpha} = \delta_a^{\alpha}$ , we build the objects (1.2)

$$Y^{I} = \frac{1}{4i\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2i - \mathfrak{m}^{1} - \mathfrak{m}^{2} - \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i - \mathfrak{m}^{1} + \mathfrak{m}^{2} + \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i + \mathfrak{m}^{1} - \mathfrak{m}^{2} + \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i + \mathfrak{m}^{1} + \mathfrak{m}^{2} - \mathfrak{m}^{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.81)

When plugging this into  $\mathcal{F}$ , as instructed by (1.2), we obtain exactly (2.78).

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ See also [28–30] for a discussion of interesting phenomena when the real mass parameters are taken to be large.

#### 2.5.2 Unequal couplings in the STU model

Let us now consider the case of unequal couplings  $g_I$ . The equations become more complicated. We will work out one case explicitly where  $g_1 = g_2 = g_3 = g$ , but  $g_0 = n^2 g$  with  $n^2 > 0$ . Solutions for general  $g_I$  are presented in appendix C.

We parametrize the  $Z^{I}$  as

$$Z^{I} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (1+y^{1}) (1+y^{2}) (1+y^{3}) \\ (1+y^{1}) (1-y^{2}) (1-y^{3}) \\ (1-y^{1}) (1+y^{2}) (1-y^{3}) \\ (1-y^{1}) (1-y^{2}) (1+y^{3}) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.82)$$

with  $y^{\alpha} \equiv \frac{1-n}{1+n} + \tau^{\alpha}$ . The parametrization is slightly different from the earlier one since we prefer to work with fields that vanish on the boundary of AdS.

Following the usual procedure, we compute the Kähler potential

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{3} \left( 1 - |y^{\alpha}|^2 \right) ,$$
 (2.83)

and the superpotential

$$W = \frac{g}{2\sqrt{2}} \left[ (n^2 + 3) \left( 1 + y^1 y^2 y^3 \right) + (n^2 - 1)(y^1 + y^2 + y^3 + y^1 y^2 + y^2 y^3 + y^1 y^3) \right].$$
(2.84)

Computing the scalar potential, we find an extremum at  $\tau^{\alpha} = \bar{\tau}^{\alpha} = 0$ , and we identify the AdS radius as  $L = (\sqrt{2ng})^{-1}$ .

We insert W in the BPS equations (2.21), and look for zeros of the minors. In the conformally flat gauge we find the BPS solutions

$$\tau^{\alpha} = c^{\alpha} \frac{1 - r^2}{1 + v^{\alpha} r^2}, \qquad \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = \tilde{c}^{\alpha} \frac{1 - r^2}{1 + \tilde{v}^{\alpha} r^2},$$

$$e^{2A} = \frac{4r^2 (1 + w)(1 + wr^4)}{(1 - r^2)^2 (1 + wr^2)^2},$$
(2.85)

with

$$v^{\alpha} = w + \frac{(n^{2} - 1)}{4n} (w + 1)c^{\alpha}, \qquad \tilde{v}^{\alpha} = w + \frac{(n^{2} - 1)}{4n} (w + 1)\tilde{c}^{\alpha}$$
$$\tilde{c}^{\alpha} = -\frac{c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}{c^{\alpha}} \frac{2(n + 1)^{2}}{8n + 2(n^{2} - 1)\sum_{\beta \neq \alpha} c^{\beta} + (n + 1)^{2}(n - 1)\frac{c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}{c^{\alpha}}} \qquad (2.86)$$
$$w = \frac{c^{1}c^{2}c^{3}}{\prod_{\alpha} \left(\frac{4n}{(1 + n)^{2}} + \frac{n - 1}{n + 1}c^{\alpha}\right)}.$$

One can check that, for n = 1, these formulas reduce to those in (2.73).

We use (2.32) in the conformally flat gauge, plug in the form of A from (2.85), integrate and take the  $r_c \rightarrow 1$  limit. The result is

$$S_{\rm reg} = \frac{4\pi^2 L^2}{8\pi G_N} \frac{1-w}{1+w} \,. \tag{2.87}$$

The next step is the Legendre transform. As before, we use the FG gauge, and the asymptotic coordinate transformation (2.75) is applicable again. In this gauge, we use equation  $(2.39)^{13}$ 

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}}{\partial a^{\alpha}} = \frac{L^2 \pi}{32G_N} \frac{(1+n)^4}{64n^3} \left[ -4n\tilde{b}^{\alpha} + (n^2-1)(\tilde{a}^{\alpha})^2 + (1+n)^2 \frac{a^1 a^2 a^3}{a^{\alpha}} \right], \quad (2.88)$$

as well as the variation with respect to  $\tilde{a}^{\alpha}$ . The final result for the free energy is

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \frac{16n \prod_{\alpha} \left[4n + 2(n^2 - 1)c^{\alpha} - (1 + n)^2(c^{\alpha})^2\right]}{32n^2 + 8n(n^2 - 1)\sum_{\alpha} c^{\alpha} + 2(n^2 - 1)^2 \sum_{\alpha} \frac{c^1 c^2 c^3}{c^{\alpha}} + (1 + n)^3 (3 + n^2)c^1 c^2 c^3}.$$
(2.89)

For n = 1, we reproduce the result (2.74).

We can now use the explicit expressions (2.85) and (2.86) in order to relate the bulk quantities  $c^{\alpha}$  to the boundary real mass parameter  $\mathfrak{m}_a$ . Since the boundary Kähler metric is proportional to the identity, we can choose the frame fields

$$e^{a}_{\alpha} = \frac{(1+n)^{2}}{4n} \delta^{a}_{\alpha} \,. \tag{2.90}$$

We go to the FG gauge,  $r \to 1 - 2e^{-r} + 2e^{-2r} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-3r})$ , and we extract the asymptotic behaviors of  $\tau^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha}$  from (2.85). As before, the boundary real mass parameters are given by

$$\mathfrak{m}^a = e^a_\alpha \frac{a^\alpha - \tilde{a}^\alpha}{2i} \,. \tag{2.91}$$

At the end of the day, we obtain again (2.78). This quantity is independent of the couplings  $g_I$ , as expected.

**Comparison with the conjecture.** As done in the previous section, we now reproduce this result using our conjecture (1.2). Using (2.82) and (2.83), we find

$$X_*^I = \frac{\sqrt{n}}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{1}{n^2}, 1, 1, 1\right)^T , \qquad (2.92)$$

and

$$(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*} = \frac{(1+n)^{2}}{8\sqrt{2n}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{n^{2}} & 1 & -1 & -1\\ \frac{1}{n^{2}} & -1 & 1 & -1\\ \frac{1}{n^{2}} & -1 & -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}_{\alpha I}$$
(2.93)

Then, using (2.90), we build

$$Y^{I} = \frac{\sqrt{n}}{4i\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{n^{2}} \left(2i - \mathfrak{m}^{1} - \mathfrak{m}^{2} - \mathfrak{m}^{3}\right) \\ 2i - \mathfrak{m}^{1} + \mathfrak{m}^{2} + \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i + \mathfrak{m}^{1} - \mathfrak{m}^{2} + \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i + \mathfrak{m}^{1} + \mathfrak{m}^{2} - \mathfrak{m}^{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.94)

When plugging this into the prepotential  $\mathcal{F}(Y)$ , the *n* dependence drops out and we recover (2.78), showing again agreement between our conjecture and the direct computation.

<sup>13</sup>For n = 1 this result agrees with (6.12) of [18], after correcting the overall minus sign missing there.

#### 3 Adding hypermultiplets

We now consider two examples of theories with both vector multiplets and hypermultiplets, where we deform the boundary SCFTs both by real mass parameters, as in the previous section, as well as by a scalar operator dual to one of the hypermultiplet scalars. The bulk BPS equations are more complicated, and analytic solutions seem beyond reach. So we resort to numerics, but we are still able to verify the conjecture analytically. Both examples contain one hypermultiplet,  $n_H = 1$ , frequently called the universal hypermultiplet, based on the quaternionic space  $\mathcal{M}_V = \mathrm{SU}(2,1)/\mathrm{SU}(2) \times \mathrm{U}(1)$  [31]. Its structure is reviewed in appendix D. The most important feature is that the moment maps are no longer constant, but are functions of the hyperscalars which are related to Killing vectors of the hypermanifold.

The first example we treat is the special case of section 2.4 with  $n_V = 1$  and essentially generic couplings. We will discuss its BPS equations with the hyper added in detail. The second example is the special case of the STU model with the specific choice of couplings of [32]. We do not repeat the numerical analysis of that paper, but we apply the results to our conjecture. In both models we find perfect agreement between the direct computation of the free energy and our conjecture.

We briefly mention the extra ingredients needed to specify the bulk theory with  $n_H$  hypermutiplets; more details can be found in Chapter 20 of [23]. There are  $4n_H$  real<sup>14</sup> hyperscalar fields  $q^u$  and metric tensor  $h_{uv}$ . We must specify the commuting Killing vectors  $k_I^u$  which correspond to the isometries of  $\mathcal{M}_H$  which are gauged by the Abelian vector fields  $A_{\mu}^I$  of the theory. The moment maps  $\vec{P}_I$  are related to the Killing vectors. These ingredients determine the entire bosonic action of theory. We report here the form the scalar potential:

$$V = \left(-\frac{1}{2}\,(\Im\mathcal{N})^{-1|IJ} - 4X^{I}\bar{X}^{J}\right)\vec{P}_{I}\cdot\vec{P}_{J} + 2\bar{X}^{I}X^{J}k_{I}^{u}k_{J}^{v}h_{uv}\,.$$
(3.1)

The structure indicates how basic quantities from the vector and hypermultiplets combine when they interact.

The AdS/CFT dual of a bulk hypermultiplet is an  $\mathcal{N} = 2$ , d = 3 chiral multiplet plus its conjugate. The chiral multiplet contains the following operators: the superconformal primary, which is a scalar operator of dimension  $\Delta$  and R-charge  $\Delta$ ; a spinor operator of dimension  $\Delta + 1/2$  and R-charge  $\Delta - 1$ ; another scalar operator of scale dimension  $\Delta + 1$ and R-charge  $\Delta - 2$ . The conjugate operators have the same dimensions and opposite R-charges. For more information see section 4.2 of [8].

One can consider a supersymmetry-preserving deformation of the SCFT by adding to the Lagrangian a linear combination of the operator of dimension  $\Delta + 1$  and its conjugate, provided that  $\Delta < 2$ . On  $S^3$ , such a deformation preserves the entire supersymmetry algebra  $\mathfrak{osp}(2|4)$ . In examples of  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  gauge theories with chiral multiplet charged matter, such a deformation can arise, for instance, as a relevant superpotential deformation. In such a case, one adds to the superpotential the superconformal primary of dimension  $\Delta$ , and this modification of the superpotential induces a deformation of the Lagrangian by the scalar superconformal descendant of dimension  $\Delta + 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>For the universal hypermultiplet, the four real  $q^u$  can be combined into two complex scalars  $z_1$ ,  $z_2$  and the metric  $h_{uv}$  becomes a Kahler metric of dimension two.

#### 3.1 The conjecture in the case of hypermultiplets

Given the new ingredients in the  $n_H \neq 0$  theory, we need to refine our conjecture. The objects we need to build are still the  $Y^I$  defined in the same way as (1.2). However, perturbing the boundary theory by the scalar superconformal descendants dual to the various hypermultiplet scalars, as discussed above, breaks some of the flavor U(1) symmetries, and we end up with fewer independent real mass parameters. We conjecture that for every hypermultiplet in the bulk theory for which we turn on such a source for the corresponding superconformal descendant, we have a further constraint

$$Q_I Y^I = 0. (3.2)$$

Here, the  $Q_I$  are the charges under the gauge fields  $A^I_{\mu}$  of the hypermultiplet scalars dual to the superconformal primary operators.

In principle, we expect to find a supersymmetric solution if  $n_H \leq n_V$ . In the case  $n_H = n_V$  our conjecture takes a particularly simple form. Remember that, in the case without hypermultiplets, we had the objects  $Y^I$ , defined in (1.2); it is easy to show that they satisfy the property  $g_I Y^I = 1/L$ , where the  $g_I$  are the FI constants. This can be seen by the explicit form of the scalar potential (2.5), and by the critical point conditions  $(\nabla_{\alpha} W)_* = g_I (\nabla_{\alpha} Z^I)_* = 0$  and  $V_* = -3/L^2$ , together with the fact that we are working in a convention where  $X_*^I = \tilde{X}_*^I$ .

The same property holds in the case with hypermultiplets, with the only caveat that since here the moment maps are not constants, but nontrivial functions of the hyperscalars, we need to say what the  $g_I$  correspond to exactly. We define the  $g_I$  through the boundary limit of the moment maps, or equivalently the values attained for the  $AdS_4$  vacuum. In particular, at the boundary, we have  $\vec{P}_{*I} = g_I \vec{e}$ , where  $\vec{e}$  is some unit vector. With this definition, we again have  $g_I X_*^I = 1/L$  and  $g_I (\nabla_{\alpha} X^I)_* = 0$ ,<sup>15</sup> meaning that

$$g_I Y^I = 1/L$$
. (3.3)

Therefore, we have  $n_V + 1$  variables  $Y^I$  satisfying  $n_H + 1$  constraints. In the case  $n_H = n_V$ , when the charges  $Q_I$  are non degenerate, the  $Y^I$  are completely fixed by these constraints. We will see this in the example of section 3.2.

# 3.2 $\mathcal{F} = \frac{i}{4} \eta_{IJ} X^I X^J$

We first consider the case  $n_V = 1$  of the theory with prepotential  $\mathcal{F} = \frac{i}{4} X^I \eta_{IJ} X^J$ , as described in section 2.4, but now coupled to the universal hypermultiplet [31]. For the hypermultiplet we consider the gauging with Killing vectors

$$k_I = (g_I \zeta + q_I \xi), \qquad (3.4)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>This can be seen by imposing the conditions for a critical point. See for example [23]; the critical point condition corresponds to vanishing of the Goldstino, which implies the vanishing of the quantities  $W_{\alpha}^{ij}$  and  $N^{i}{}_{A}$ , defined in (21.40) there. The condition  $W_{\alpha}^{ij} = 0$  implies, in our notation,  $g_{I}(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*} = 0$ . Then, from equation (21.46), with the definition (21.39), we obtain the relation  $g_{I}X_{*}^{I} = 1/L$ .

where  $\zeta$  and  $\xi$  are defined in (D.14); they are commuting Killing vectors as needed in our Abelian theory.

In complex coordinates, the gauge invariant scalar kinetic term in Lorentzian signature is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{scalar kin}} = -\frac{|\partial_{\mu}\tau|^{2}}{\left(1 - |\tau|^{2}\right)^{2}} - \left[\frac{|D_{\mu}z_{1}|^{2} + |D_{\mu}z_{2}|^{2}}{1 - |z_{1}|^{2} - |z_{2}|^{2}} + \frac{|z_{1}^{*}D_{\mu}z_{1} + z_{2}^{*}D_{\mu}z_{2}|^{2}}{\left(1 - |z_{1}|^{2} - |z_{2}|^{2}\right)^{2}}\right], \quad (3.5)$$

where the covariant derivatives are defined as

$$D_{\mu}z_{1} = \partial_{\mu}z_{1} - \frac{i}{2}A^{0}_{\mu}(g_{0} + q_{0})z_{1} - \frac{i}{2}A^{1}_{\mu}(g_{1} + q_{1})z_{1},$$
  

$$D_{\mu}z_{2} = \partial_{\mu}z_{2} - \frac{i}{2}A^{0}_{\mu}(-g_{0} + q_{0})z_{2} - \frac{i}{2}A^{1}_{\mu}(-g_{1} + q_{1})z_{2}.$$
(3.6)

Although the necessary ingredients to compute the detailed form of the potential (3.1) are given in appendix D, this form is very complicated. One simplification, with no loss of generality<sup>16</sup> is to focus on the choice of Killing vectors (3.4) with  $g_0 = 1/L$ ,  $g_1 = 0$ . The potential has a stationary point at  $\tau = \bar{\tau} = z_i = \bar{z}_i = 0$ , where it has value  $V = -\frac{3}{L^2}$ . We now set L = 1 in the rest of this section to simplify the notation (hence  $g_0 = 1$ ). Expanding close to the stationary point, we find

$$V = -3 - 2\tau\bar{\tau} + (q_0 + 1)(q_0 - 2)z_1\bar{z}_1 + (q_0 - 1)(q_0 + 2)z_2\bar{z}_2 + \dots$$
(3.7)

From this we can determine the correspondence between bulk fields and boundary operators: the real and imaginary parts of  $\tau$  are dual to SCFT operators J and K of dimension 1 and 2, as in the case with no hypers; then  $z_1$  and  $\bar{z}_1$  are dual to complex operators  $\mathcal{O}_1$ and  $\bar{\mathcal{O}}_1$  of dimension  $\Delta_1 = q_0 + 1$ ; finally  $z_2$  and  $\bar{z}_2$  are dual to complex operators  $\mathcal{O}_2$  and  $\bar{\mathcal{O}}_2$  of dimension  $\Delta_2 = q_0 + 2$ .

The UV boundary theory has a  $U(1)_R^{UV}$  and a  $U(1)_F^{UV}$  symmetry, with  $A_{\mu}^0$  and  $A_{\mu}^1$  their respective bulk gauge fields.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, we see from (3.6), that the UV R-charge of  $\mathcal{O}_1$ is  $q_0 + 1$  and that of  $\mathcal{O}_2$  is  $q_0 - 1$ . This means that  $\mathcal{O}_1$  is a BPS superconformal primary, since its dimension and its R-charge coincide, and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  is its descendant.<sup>18</sup> From (3.6), we can read off the charges of the fields under the  $U(1)_F$  symmetry in the UV. All the UV data for the hyperscalars  $z_i$  are collected in table 2.

The simplest strategy now is to construct a solution of the BPS equations in which only one of the two scalars  $z_1$ ,  $z_2$  is turned on. As per the discussion above, we should deform the boundary theory by the scalar superconformal descendant  $\mathcal{O}_2$  (and its conjugate), which corresponds to  $z_2$  (and its conjugate). Therefore we simply set  $z_1 = 0$  and call  $z_2 = z$  from

 $\ln \kappa = \left( \sinh \theta \, \cosh \theta \right)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>One can check that the potential obtained with the parametrization (2.47) and the Killing vectors (3.4) is invariant if we rotate the  $q_I$  and the  $g_I$  by the same SO(1, 1) rotation:  $g_I \to R_I^{\ J}g_J$  and  $q_I \to R_I^{\ J}q_J$ , with  $R = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh\theta & \sinh\theta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The bulk field dual to the UV R-symmetry can be obtained by the boundary limit of  $X^{I}$  and  $\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{N}_{IJ}$ . See (6.80) of [24] for details.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Another possibility from (3.7) is to assign  $\Delta_1 = 2 - q_0$  and  $\Delta_2 = 1 - q_0$ ; this is consistent with  $\mathcal{O}_2$  being the superconformal primary and  $\mathcal{O}_1$  its descendant.

operator	dual field	Δ	UV R-charge $r^{\rm UV}$	UV flavor charge $f$
J	$\Re  au$	1	0	0
K	$\Im  au$	2	0	0
$\mathcal{O}_1$	$z_1$	$q_0 + 1$	$q_0 + 1$	$q_1$
$\mathcal{O}_2$	$z_2$	$q_0 + 2$	$q_0 - 1$	$q_1$

Table 2. UV scaling dimensions and charges.

here onwards. (See also [32] and [33] where the same choice was made.) This choice is consistent since

$$\partial_{z_1} V|_{z_1 = \bar{z}_1 = 0} = \partial_{\bar{z}_1} V|_{z_1 = \bar{z}_1 = 0} = 0.$$
(3.8)

Deforming the boundary theory by  $\mathcal{O}_2$  breaks both the UV R-symmetry and the flavor symmetry, but preserves a linear combination of the two. This remaining  $U(1)_R^{\text{flow}}$  is the subgroup of  $U(1)_R^{\text{UV}} \times U(1)_F^{\text{UV}}$  under which  $\mathcal{O}_2$  is invariant. This means that the charges of the fields under the  $U(1)_R^{\text{flow}}$  symmetry are related to those of the UV symmetries by (see table 2)

$$r = r^{\rm UV} + tf, \qquad t = \frac{1 - q_0}{q_1},$$
(3.9)

where the value of t was determined from table 2 and the requirement that  $\mathcal{O}_2$  has vanishing charge.

In the bulk theory, we expect that in the flow toward the IR, the gauge field  $A^R_{\mu}$  remains massless, while the gauge field for the broken flavor symmetry  $A^m_{\mu}$  becomes massive. We now show that these gauge fields are

$$A^{R}_{\mu} = A^{0}_{\mu} + tA^{1}_{\mu}, \qquad A^{m}_{\mu} = A^{0}_{\mu}(q_{0} - 1) + A^{1}_{\mu}q_{1} = (q_{0} - 1)\left(A^{0}_{\mu} - \frac{1}{t}A^{1}_{\mu}\right).$$
(3.10)

First, we can rewrite the second line of (3.6) as

$$D_{\mu}z = \partial_{\mu}z - \frac{i}{2} \left[ (q_0 - 1)A^0_{\mu} + q_1 A^1_{\mu} \right] z = \partial_{\mu}z - \frac{i}{2}A^m_{\mu}z$$
(3.11)

and see that z is uncharged under  $A^R_{\mu}$ , which is consistent with the fact that the dual operator  $\mathcal{O}_2$  is neutral under (3.9). Second, the vector mass term along the flow is contained in the scalar kinetic term. A short calculation shows this contains only  $A^m_{\mu}$ :

$$D_{\mu}zD^{\mu}\tilde{z} \supset +\frac{1}{4}z\tilde{z}(A^{m}_{\mu}A^{m\,\mu})\,, \qquad (3.12)$$

since z(r),  $\tilde{z}(r) \neq 0$  in the RG flow. The field  $A^R_{\mu}$  is absent and thus remains massless.

#### 3.2.1 The BPS equations and their simplification

Let us start by writing the fermion transformation rules of the theory:<sup>19</sup>

$$\begin{split} \delta\psi^{p}_{\mu} &= \left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma_{ab} - \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{A}_{\mu}\right)\epsilon^{p} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu q}{}^{p}\epsilon^{q} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\mu}S^{pq}\epsilon_{q} \,,\\ \delta\psi_{\mu p} &= \left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma_{ab} + \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{A}_{\mu}\right)\epsilon_{p} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu}{}^{q}{}_{p}\epsilon_{q} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\mu}S_{pq}\epsilon^{q} \,,\\ \delta\chi^{p}_{p} &= \vartheta\tau^{\alpha}\epsilon_{p} + \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\bar{W}_{\bar{\beta}pq}\epsilon^{q} \,,\\ \delta\chi^{p\bar{\alpha}} &= \vartheta\bar{\tau}^{\bar{\alpha}}\epsilon^{p} + \mathcal{K}^{\beta\bar{\alpha}}W_{\beta}{}^{pq}\epsilon_{q} \,,\\ \delta\zeta^{A} &= \frac{i}{2}f^{pA}{}_{u}\vartheta q^{u}\epsilon_{p} + \bar{N}^{A}_{p}\epsilon^{p} \,,\\ \delta\zeta_{\bar{A}} &= -\frac{i}{2}f^{qB}{}_{u}\varepsilon_{qp}\rho_{B\bar{A}}\vartheta\bar{q}^{\bar{u}}\epsilon^{p} + N^{p}{}_{A}\epsilon_{p} \,. \end{split}$$
(3.13)

The transformation rules contain the quantities

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu} = \frac{i}{2} \left( \partial_{\mu} \tau^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} \mathcal{K} - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\tau}^{\alpha} \bar{\partial}_{\alpha} \mathcal{K} \right) ,$$
  

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mu q}{}^{p} = \left( \mathcal{V}_{\mu}{}^{q}{}_{p} \right)^{*} = -\omega_{uq}{}^{p} \partial_{\mu} q^{u} ,$$
  

$$S^{pq} = \left( S_{pq} \right)^{*} = P_{I}{}^{pq} X^{I} ,$$
  

$$W_{\alpha}{}^{pq} = \left( \bar{W}_{\bar{\alpha} pq} \right)^{*} = -P_{I}^{pq} \nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} ,$$
  

$$\bar{N}_{i}^{A} = \left( N^{i}{}_{A} \right)^{*} = -i\varepsilon_{ij} d^{A}{}_{B} f^{jB}{}_{u} k^{u}_{I} \bar{X}^{I} ,$$
  
(3.14)

and we have also used (D.7). The moment maps  $P_I^{pq}$  are expressed as rank-two symmetric tensors with SU(2) fundamental indices, equivalent to the 3-vector notation in (D.15) (see appendix 20A of [23] for more information).

Grouping together all the equations without derivatives of the spinors  $\epsilon^q$ ,  $\epsilon_q$ , and passing from Lorentzian to Euclidean signature, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} (1+LA'e^{A-B})\delta_q^p & -iLe^A S^{pq} \\ -iLe^A S_{pq} & (1-LA'e^{A-B})\delta_p^q \\ \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\tilde{\beta}}\tilde{W}_{\tilde{\beta}pq} & -ie^{-B}(\tau^{\alpha})'\delta_p^q \\ ie^{-B}(\tilde{\tau}^{\alpha})'\delta_q^p & \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\tilde{\beta}}W_{\alpha}^{pq} \\ \tilde{N}_q^A & \frac{1}{2}f^{qA}{}_u e^{-B}(q^u)' \\ \frac{1}{2}f^{pB}{}_u \varepsilon_{pq}\rho_{B\bar{A}}e^{-B}(\tilde{q}^u)' & N^q{}_A \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon^q \\ \epsilon_q \end{pmatrix} = 0$$
(3.15)

As already stated, we are interested in BPS solutions with  $z_2 = z$  and  $\tilde{z}_2 = \tilde{z}$  non-vanishing, but  $z_1$  and  $\tilde{z}_1$  set to zero. Important simplifications occur. First, we get decoupled systems of equations for  $(\epsilon_1, \epsilon^2)$  and for  $(\epsilon_2, \epsilon^1)$ . Further, by taking, for example, the third line of (3.15), solving for the  $\epsilon_q$ , and plugging this solution back in the last two lines, we find that

$$\frac{z'}{\tilde{z}'} = \frac{z}{\tilde{z}} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>These are written in Lorentzian signature in which the spinors are chiral projections of Majorana spinors.

This means that z and  $\tilde{z}$  are proportional. Therefore, we simplify our equations henceforth by defining

$$\mathcal{X} \equiv z\tilde{z} \,. \tag{3.17}$$

We look at the system of equations for  $(\epsilon^1, \epsilon_2)$ . With  $z_1 = \tilde{z}_1 = 0$ , moment maps vanish, except in the direction  $P_I^3$ . This allows us to introduce the "superpotential"

$$W = -P_I^3 Z^I = \frac{z\bar{z}\left(1+q_0+q_1\tau\right)-2}{2(1-z\bar{z})},$$
(3.18)

which is quadratically related to the scalar potential

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( -3W\bar{W} + \mathcal{K}^{\tau\bar{\tau}} \nabla_{\tau} W \bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\tau}} \bar{W} + 4h^{z\bar{z}} \partial_z W \partial_{\bar{z}} \bar{W} \right) , \qquad (3.19)$$

where  $h^{z\bar{z}}$  is the inverse of the quaternionic metric.

We write the simplified BPS equations in the FG gauge, which is most convenient for numerics:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1+A'e^A & e^A e^{\mathcal{K}/2}W \\ -e^A e^{\mathcal{K}/2}\tilde{W} & 1-A'e^A \\ \frac{\sqrt{1-\tau\tilde{\tau}}}{2}\frac{2\tau-\mathcal{X}(\tau(q_0+1)+q_1)}{(1-\mathcal{X})} & \tau' \\ \tilde{\tau}' & \frac{\sqrt{1-\tau\tilde{\tau}}}{2}\frac{2\tilde{\tau}-\mathcal{X}(\tilde{\tau}(q_0+1)+q_1)}{(1-\mathcal{X})} \\ \sqrt{\mathcal{X}}\frac{1-q_I\tilde{Z}^I}{\sqrt{1-\tau\tilde{\tau}}} & \frac{\mathcal{X}'}{2\sqrt{\mathcal{X}}} \\ \frac{\mathcal{X}'}{2\sqrt{\mathcal{X}}} & \sqrt{\mathcal{X}}\frac{1-q_IZ^I}{\sqrt{1-\tau\tilde{\tau}}} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon^1 \\ \epsilon_2 \end{pmatrix} = 0. \quad (3.20)$$

Here, W is defined in (3.18), and we have omitted overall constants and common factors of  $(1 - \mathcal{X})$ . The same system of equations holds for  $(\epsilon^1, \epsilon_2) \to (\epsilon^2, \epsilon_1)$ .

Again, we require all  $2 \times 2$  minors of (3.20) to vanish. We start with the equations obtained from three of these minors and check later that other minors also vanish. The determinant of the third and fifth line gives an equation for  $\tau'$ ; the fourth and sixth line give us an equation for  $\tilde{\tau}'$ ; finally, the last two lines give us an equation for  $\mathcal{X}'$ :

$$\tau' = \frac{q_1 \mathcal{X} + \tau((1+q_0)\mathcal{X} - 2)}{4\mathcal{X}(1-\mathcal{X})} \frac{1-\tau\tilde{\tau}}{q_I \tilde{Z}^I - 1} \mathcal{X}',$$
  

$$\tilde{\tau}' = \frac{q_1 \mathcal{X} + \tilde{\tau}((1+q_0)\mathcal{X} - 2)}{4\mathcal{X}(1-\mathcal{X})} \frac{1-\tau\tilde{\tau}}{q_I Z^I - 1} \mathcal{X}',$$
  

$$(\mathcal{X}')^2 = \frac{4(1-q_I Z^I)(1-q_I \tilde{Z}^I)}{(1-\tau\tilde{\tau})} \mathcal{X}^2.$$
  
(3.21)

An advantage of the FG gauge is that these equations do not involve the metric. With some work, we can derive an algebraic equation for  $e^{2A}$ . Let us take the determinant of the first and sixth line, and the determinant of the second and fifth line of (3.20); this gives two equations for  $\mathcal{X}'$ :

$$\mathcal{X}' = 4 \frac{(1 - \mathcal{X})\mathcal{X}(1 - q_I Z^I)}{\mathcal{X}(1 + q_I Z^I) - 2} (A' + e^{-A}),$$
  

$$\mathcal{X}' = 4 \frac{(1 - \mathcal{X})\mathcal{X}(1 - q_I \tilde{Z}^I)}{\mathcal{X}(1 + q_I \tilde{Z}^I) - 2} (A' - e^{-A}).$$
(3.22)

By summing these two equations with the appropriate coefficients, we can eliminate A', and obtain an equation for  $\mathcal{X}'$  in terms of A only. Then we plug this into the third line of (3.21) and obtain

$$e^{2A} = \frac{4}{q_1^2} \frac{(1 - q_I Z^I)(1 - q_I \tilde{Z}^I)}{(\tau - \tilde{\tau})^2} (1 - \tau \tilde{\tau}).$$
(3.23)

The equations (3.21) are symmetric under exchange of  $\tau$  and  $\tilde{\tau}$  (as is (3.23)). However, there are other minors in (3.20) which are symmetric only under the combined swap  $\tau \leftrightarrow \tilde{\tau}$ and  $e^A \leftrightarrow -e^A$ . We choose one solution of (3.20) for which all minors vanish. There is another solution obtained by the combined swap. The Killing spinors of these two branches are invariant under opposite choices of the SU(2) factor of the isometry group SO(4) = SU(2)\_l \times SU(2)\_r of the sphere. The computation of the free energy is the same for both solutions.

#### 3.2.2 Asymptotic analysis

The goal now is to solve eqs. (3.21), and a numerical approach appears necessary. The first step is to work out the behavior of solutions in the UV and IR. We will then obtain numerical solutions which interpolate between these limits. In order to simplify our analysis, we will focus on a specific range for  $q_0$ . Remember that  $q_0$  determines the dimension of the CFT operators dual to z and  $\tilde{z}$ ,

$$\frac{\partial^2 V}{\partial z \partial \tilde{z}} = (q_0 + 2)(q_0 - 1) + \dots , \qquad (3.24)$$

and recall the  $AdS_4$  mass formula

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{9}{4} + m^2} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

It is convenient to parameterize  $\Delta_+ = 2 + q_0$  and  $\Delta_- = 1 - q_0$ , which is compatible with the bounds  $\Delta_+ > 3/2$ ,  $\Delta_- < 3/2$  in the range

$$-\frac{1}{2} < q_0 < \frac{1}{2} \tag{3.26}$$

within which we will work.<sup>20</sup>

UV analysis. For large r, we assume the following series representations for the fields:<sup>21</sup>

$$\tau = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} f_j e^{-jr} + \sum_{n=1,j=0}^{\infty} f_{n,j} e^{-(2n\Delta_- + j)r},$$
  

$$\tilde{\tau} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \tilde{f}_j e^{-jr} + \sum_{n=1,j=0}^{\infty} \tilde{f}_{n,j} e^{-(2n\Delta_- + j)r},$$
  

$$\mathcal{X} = \sum_{n=1,j=0}^{\infty} x_{n,j} e^{-(2n\Delta_- + j)r}.$$
(3.27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>This also avoids the complication of mixing of the leading exponents among  $\tau, \tilde{\tau}$ , and  $\mathcal{X}$  that would happen for  $q_0 > 1/2$ . See (3.27).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>For some special values of  $q_0$ , for which  $\Delta_- \in \mathbb{Z}/2$ , then we can also have powers of r appearing in the expansion. We will avoid such special values.

The radial mode  $e^{-\Delta_{-}r}$  corresponds to a source for the operators  $\mathcal{O}_2$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_2$ . Notice that, naively, one would expect powers of  $e^{-\Delta_{+}r}$  to appear as well. Indeed, the equations of motion obtained from the bulk action allow both  $e^{-\Delta_{+}r}$  and  $e^{+\Delta_{+}r}$  behavior for the hyperscalars z and  $\tilde{z}$ . However, we see from solving the BPS equations (3.21) that only the  $e^{-\Delta_{+}r}$  behavior is allowed.

We can substitute these series in (3.21) and solve order by order for higher mode coefficients in terms of  $f_1$ ,  $\tilde{f}_1$  and  $x_{1,0}$ . However, we have the freedom to shift r; we use this to reduce the number of UV parameters by one by requiring the convenient normalization

$$e^{2A} = \frac{e^{2r}}{4} + \dots (3.28)$$

of the asymptotically AdS metric. Examining (3.23), the condition (3.28) gives us the further constraint

$$f_1 = \tilde{f}_1 + 4 \frac{1 - q_0}{q_1} \,. \tag{3.29}$$

The first subleading terms, after shifting r, are given by

$$\tilde{f}_{2} = 2\tilde{f}_{1},$$

$$f_{2} = -2\left(\tilde{f}_{1} + 4\frac{1-q_{0}}{q_{1}}\right),$$

$$x_{1,1} = -2\left(-2q_{0} + \tilde{f}_{1}q_{1} + 2\right)x_{1,0}.$$
(3.30)

In practice, we compute a few orders further in order to extrapolate  $\tilde{f}_1$  and  $x_{1,0}$  from the numerical solutions to good accuracy.

**IR analysis.** We now derive the asymptotic behavior in the IR, namely where the sphere shrinks to zero size. Let us assume this happens at some  $r = r_*$ , where  $e^{A(r_*)} = 0$ . We've already used the freedom to shift r to control the UV behavior (see (3.28)), and therefore we cannot shift away  $r_*$ . Defining  $\Delta r = r - r_*$ , we can solve the BPS equations (3.21) for small  $\Delta r$ . The solutions contain only even powers of  $\Delta r$ :

$$\tau = \sum_{j=0} t_j \Delta r^{2j}, \qquad \tilde{\tau} = \sum_{j=0} \tilde{t}_j \Delta r^{2j}, \qquad \mathcal{X} = \sum_{j=0} y_j \Delta r^{2j}.$$
(3.31)

Solving the BPS equations at leading order in  $\Delta r$  gives the condition on the leading terms

$$t_0 = \frac{1 - q_0}{q_1}, \qquad y_0 = \frac{2\tilde{t}_0}{q_1 + \tilde{t}_0(1 + q_0)}.$$
 (3.32)

One can then work out further subleading orders. We see that our solutions only depend on one IR parameter,  $\tilde{t}_0$ .

# 3.2.3 Numerics

We have seen that we can solve our BPS equations as a series expansion in the UV and in the IR. However, we are interested in solutions which are regular all the way from the UV to the IR, and in order to see if they exist, we need to solve these equations numerically.



**Figure 1.** Example of numerical solutions for different values of  $q_I$  and  $t_0$ . Orange:  $\tau(r)$ , blue:  $\tilde{\tau}(r)$ , green:  $\mathcal{X}(r)$ .

Furthermore, we have seen that in the IR asymptotic analysis we have one free parameter, while in the UV we have two. This means that, in the case of regular solutions, the two UV parameters are not independent, and we will find numerically how they depend on the IR parameter.

When doing the numerics, we first make a shift  $r \to r + r_*$ ; then, we would like, in principle, to integrate the BPS equations from r = 0 to  $r = \infty$ . However, in practice, we choose a very small  $r_1$  and a very large  $r_2$  and numerically integrate the solutions from  $r_1$  and  $r_2$ . Then we use the asymptotic expansions to extrapolate from  $r_1$  to 0 and from  $r_2$  to  $\infty$ .

We notice that regular solutions all the way to infinity exist if  $\tilde{t}_0$  is in the range between  $-\frac{q_1}{1+q_0}$  and  $\frac{q_1}{1-q_0}$ . We show examples of solutions in figure 1.

#### **3.2.4** Computation of the free energy

Compared to the models in section 2, new counterterms may be needed to regulate the on-shell bulk action because of the presence of hypermultiplets. These counterterms might depend on the value of  $q_0$ , since this determines the scaling of  $\mathcal{X}$  in the UV (see (3.27)). It turns out that, by explicit check, the choice (2.25) with the new superpotential (3.18) makes the action finite. One can exclude additional finite counterterms due to  $\mathcal{X}$  because they do not occur at generic  $q_0$ .

The computation of  $S_{\text{reg}}$  proceeds as in section 2.3.2. The extra kinetic term for the hyperscalars and the different potential are absorbed via the EOM for A, leading again to (2.28) (now in the FG gauge). The vanishing of the determinant of the first two lines of (3.20) gives again (2.29). The net result is that  $S_{\text{reg}}$  takes the same form as before, which we repeat here with L = 1:

$$S_{\rm reg} = \frac{\pi}{2G_N} \int_0^\infty dr \, e^A (A' - 1) \,. \tag{3.33}$$

The integral converges, so it is well suited for numerical computation.

To very good numerical accuracy, and for several values of  $q_0$  and  $q_1$ , we observe that

$$S_{\text{reg}} = \frac{\pi}{2G_N} \left( \frac{1 - q_0}{2q_1} \tilde{f}_1 + 1 \right) \,. \tag{3.34}$$

This can be seen in figure 2.



Figure 2. Value  $S_{\text{reg}}$  in a few examples. The blue points are values of  $S_{\text{reg}}$  computed numerically and the orange lines are the fit (3.34).

The expression (3.34) can be checked analytically as follows. First, let us point out that the on-shell action  $S_{\text{reg}}$  is naturally a function of the leading coefficients in the nearboundary asymptotic expansions (3.27), i.e.  $S_{\text{reg}} = S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})$ , because when deriving the second order equations of motion that follow from the action, we should hold  $(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})$  fixed. (See also the discussion in section 2.3.3.) The expression (3.34) equals  $S_{\text{reg}} = S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})$  evaluated on supersymmetric solutions where  $f_1$  is related to  $\tilde{f}_1$ via (3.29) and  $x_{1,0}$  is still arbitrary. However, if we do not use the supersymmetry assumption, we can calculate the partial derivatives

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial f_1} = 2\pi^2 \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-r} e^{3A} \left( \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial \tau'} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{SUSY}}}{\partial \tau} \right) = -\frac{\pi}{32G_N} \tilde{f}_2,$$

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial \tilde{f}_1} = 2\pi^2 \lim_{r \to \infty} e^{-r} e^{3A} \left( \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial \tilde{\tau}'} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{SUSY}}}{\partial \tilde{\tau}} \right) = -\frac{\pi}{32G_N} f_2,$$
(3.35)

In order to consider the variation of  $S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})$  with respect to  $x_{1,0}$ , let us remember that we defined  $\mathcal{X} = z\tilde{z}$ . If we assume, as the EOMs predict, an asymptotic behavior  $z = h_1 e^{-\Delta - r} + h_2 e^{-\Delta + r} + \dots$ , and similarly for  $\tilde{z}$ , then we have  $x_{1,0} = h_1 \tilde{h}_1$  and we find

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial x_{1,0}} = \frac{1}{\tilde{h}_1} \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial h_1} + \frac{1}{h_1} \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial \tilde{h}_1} \,. \tag{3.36}$$

Then one can check that

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_1, \tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial h_1} \sim \tilde{h}_2 \,, \tag{3.37}$$

as well as its tilded version. Remember, however, that the BPS solutions behave asymptotically as (3.27), meaning that  $h_2 = \tilde{h}_2 = 0$ . Therefore we will have

$$\frac{\partial S_{\rm reg}(f_1, f_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial x_{1,0}} \bigg|_{\rm BPS} = 0 \tag{3.38}$$

when evaluated on the BPS solution.

Then, when evaluated on the supersymmetric solutions parametrized by  $f_1$  and  $x_{1,0}$ , we can use the chain rule:

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(\tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial \tilde{f}_{1}} = \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_{1}, \tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial \tilde{f}_{1}} + \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_{1}, \tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial f_{1}} \frac{\partial f_{1}(\tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial \tilde{f}_{1}}, 
\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(\tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial x_{1,0}} = \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_{1}, \tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial x_{1,0}} + \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(f_{1}, \tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial f_{1}} \frac{\partial f_{1}(\tilde{f}_{1}, x_{1,0})}{\partial x_{1,0}}.$$
(3.39)

Using (3.29) and (3.39) and then (3.30), we find

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(\tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial \tilde{f}_1} = -\frac{\pi}{32G_N} \left( f_2 + \tilde{f}_2 \right) = \frac{\pi}{4G_N} \frac{1 - q_0}{q_1} , \qquad \frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}(\tilde{f}_1, x_{1,0})}{\partial x_{1,0}} = 0 \qquad (3.40)$$

This, together with the fact that  $S_{\text{reg}}(0,0) = \frac{\pi}{2G_N}$  as evaluated in (2.57), gives indeed (3.34).

As explained previously, since the field  $\tau + \tilde{\tau}$  is dual to a dimension one operator, in order to compute the free energy for our boundary theory, we need to do a Legendre transform of the on-shell action. The free energy is

$$F_{S^3} = S_{\text{reg}} - \frac{1}{2} \left( f_1 + \tilde{f}_1 \right) \left( \frac{\partial S}{\partial f_1} + \frac{\partial S}{\partial \tilde{f}_1} \right) = S_{\text{reg}} + \frac{\pi}{64G_N} (f_1 + \tilde{f}_1)(f_2 + \tilde{f}_2) =$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{2G_N} \left[ 1 - \left( \frac{1 - q_0}{q_1} \right)^2 \right].$$
(3.41)

We see that the dependence on  $\tilde{f}_1$  drops out, and the free energy is just a constant.

We now reinstate L in the final result

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 - \left(\frac{1 - Lq_0}{Lq_1}\right)^2 \right].$$
(3.42)

## 3.2.5 Comparison to the proposal

Since here  $n_V = n_H = 1$ , we do not need to actually solve the bulk theory in order to compute the sphere free energy: the constraints  $g_I Y^I = 1/L = g_0$  and  $Q_I Y^I = 0$  fix uniquely  $Y^I = (Y^0, Y^1)$ . The quantities  $Q_I$  are the UV charges of the field z under the gauge potentials  $A^I_{\mu}$ , and they can be read off from the covariant derivatives appearing in the kinetic terms. Indeed, we have

$$D_{\mu}z \supset -iQ_I A^I_{\mu}z \tag{3.43}$$

meaning that  $Q_I = \frac{1}{2}(-g_0 + q_0, q_1)$ .<sup>22</sup> Imposing the two constraints, we get

$$Y^{I} = \left(1, \frac{Lq_{0} - 1}{Lq_{1}}\right).$$
(3.44)

Therefore, according to our proposal, the free energy is

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 - \left(\frac{1 - Lq_0}{Lq_1}\right)^2 \right], \qquad (3.45)$$

which agrees with our direct computation (3.42).

In terms of boundary charges of the chiral operator, the free energy can be written as

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \left[ 1 - \left(\frac{r^{\rm UV}}{f}\right)^2 \right] \,. \tag{3.46}$$

In can be checked that this is the value predicted by our conjecture for  $g_1 \neq 0$  as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>We remind the reader that we choose  $g_0 = 1/L$  and  $g_1 = 0$ .

#### 3.3 STU model with hypermultiplets

The case of the STU model with the universal hypermultiplet was considered in [32], for a specific choice of couplings. The authors find BPS solutions numerically and compute the free energy analytically, thanks to some simplifications similar to those of our section 3.2.1. We will show that their result fully agrees with our conjecture.

The choice of gauging in [32] corresponds to the Killing vectors (3.4) with the  $g_I = 1$ , for all I = 0, ..., 3, and  $q_0 = -3q_i = 3$ , with i = 1, 2, 3 — see eq. (B.23) of [27];<sup>23</sup> the AdS scale has been fixed to  $L = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ , see equation (4.1). Notice that the conventions of our paper and [32] are different:  $\tau_{\text{here}}^{\alpha} = -\tilde{z}_{\text{there}}^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}_{\text{here}}^{\alpha} = -z_{\text{there}}^{\alpha}$ . We will thus translate everything into our notation.

This theory is the bulk dual of ABJM theory perturbed by a superpotential deformation

$$\Delta W \sim \operatorname{Tr}(T^{(1)}A_1)^2, \qquad (3.47)$$

where  $A_1$  is the one of the four bifundamental scalars, and  $T^{(1)}$  is a monopole operator with appropriate gauge charges so as to make the superpotential deformation (3.47) gauge invariant.

The authors of [32] found through their numerical analysis that the profiles of the scalars  $\tau_i$  change in a very simple way when the hyperscalar is included. They introduce the parameter  $x_0 = \mathcal{X}(r_*)$ , where  $\mathcal{X}$  is again the product of the hyperscalars  $\mathcal{X} = z\tilde{z}$ , such that the hyperscalar decouples completely when  $x_0 = 0$ . The boundary behavior of the  $\tau_i$  depends on  $x_0$ , i.e.

$$\tau^{\alpha} = a^{\alpha}(x_0)e^{-r} + \dots, \qquad \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(x_0)e^{-r} + \dots, \qquad (3.48)$$

but all quantities  $a^{\alpha}$  and  $\tilde{a}^{\alpha}$  shift by the single function  $f(x_0)$ :

$$a^{\alpha}(x_0) = a^{\alpha}(0) + f(x_0) \qquad \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(x_0) = \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(0) + f(x_0).$$
(3.49)

The values  $a^{\alpha}(0)$ ,  $\tilde{a}^{\alpha}(0)$  are those known from section 2.5. The fact that  $a^{\alpha}(x_0) - \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(x_0) = a^{\alpha}(0) - \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(0)$  is independent of  $x_0$ , i.e. the profile of the hyperscalars, is a major simplification which ultimately allows the authors to find the free energy analytically.

Several quantities are the same as in section 2.5: we parametrize the  $Z^{I}$  as in (2.70) so that the Kähler potential is (2.71). The scalar potential can be computed, and there is an extremum at  $\tau^{\alpha} = \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} = \mathcal{X} = 0$ . This means that the objects needed to construct  $Y^{I}$ ,  $X_{*}^{I}$  and  $(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*}$ , are unchanged, see (2.79) and (2.80). Therefore we again find

$$Y^{I} = \frac{1}{4i\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2i - \mathfrak{m}^{1} - \mathfrak{m}^{2} - \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i - \mathfrak{m}^{1} + \mathfrak{m}^{2} + \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i + \mathfrak{m}^{1} - \mathfrak{m}^{2} + \mathfrak{m}^{3} \\ 2i + \mathfrak{m}^{1} + \mathfrak{m}^{2} - \mathfrak{m}^{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.50)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>The scalar potential is invariant if we flip signs of both the  $g_I$  and the  $q_I$ , so we choose the  $g_I$  to be positive.

operator	R	$F_1$	$F_2$	$F_3$
$A_1$	1/2	1/2	1/2	1/2
$A_2$	1/2	1/2	-1/2	-1/2
$B_1$	1/2	-1/2	1/2	-1/2
$B_2$	1/2	-1/2	-1/2	1/2

Table 3. UV R and flavor charges of the chiral multiplet superprimaries.

We must now impose the constraint  $Q_I Y^I = 0$ . To do this, we first discuss the charges  $Q_I$  of the field z. As before, we determine the charges from the covariant derivative, namely

$$D_{\mu}z \supset -iQ_{I}A_{\mu}^{I}z = \frac{i}{2}(g_{I} - q_{I})A_{\mu}^{I}z = -i\left(A_{\mu}^{0} - A_{\mu}^{1} - A_{\mu}^{2} - A_{\mu}^{3}\right)z, \qquad (3.51)$$

so that we find

$$Q_I = (1, -1, -1, -1). \tag{3.52}$$

Then, the constraint  $Q_I Y^I = 0$  gives

 $2i + \mathfrak{m}^1 + \mathfrak{m}^2 + \mathfrak{m}^3 = 0.$  (3.53)

Remember that the real mass parameters are defined as

$$\mathfrak{m}^{\alpha} = \frac{a^{\alpha}(x_0) - \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(x_0)}{2i} = \frac{a^{\alpha}(0) - \tilde{a}^{\alpha}(0)}{2i}, \qquad (3.54)$$

where in the second equality we used the property (3.49). The relation between real mass parameters and IR values of the fields  $c^{\alpha} = \tau^{\alpha}(0)$  then is the same as in the case with no hypermultiplets, (2.77).

Again, the free energy can be written as (2.74)

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \frac{(1 - (c^1)^2)(1 - (c^2)^2)(1 - (c^3)^2)}{(1 - c^1 c^2 c^3)^2}, \qquad (3.55)$$

where the extra constraint (3.53) translates to

$$\frac{c^1 + c^2 + c^3 + c^1 c^2 + c^2 c^3 + c^3 c^1}{1 + c^1 c^2 c^3} = 1.$$
(3.56)

This is the same constraint as (4.26) in [32], remembering that  $c_i^{\text{here}} = -\tilde{c}_i^{\text{there}}$ .

We can also consider more general perturbations of ABJM theory, of the form

$$\Delta W \sim \operatorname{Tr}(T^{(1)}A_1)^p \,. \tag{3.57}$$

(Only the cases p = 2, 3 correspond to relevant perturbations.) We can find the free energy of the perturbed theories quite easily using the conjecture. The R and flavor charges of the bifundamental chiral superprimaries can be found in table 3.

R	$F_1$	$F_2$	$F_3$
$A_0 + A_1 + A_2 + A_3$	$A_0 + A_1 - A_2 - A_3$	$A_0 - A_1 + A_2 - A_3$	$A_0 - A_1 - A_2 + A_3$

Table 4. Bulk gauge field duals to the UV symmetries.

On the boundary, there are two operators, with charges

and F charges  $F_1 = F_2 = F_3 = p/2$ . As in previous cases, we turn on the operator  $\mathcal{O}_2$ . Using table 4, the covariant derivative of its dual hyperscalar field z can be worked out. It contains the terms

$$D_{\mu}z \supset -\frac{i}{2}\left(\frac{p}{2}-2\right)\left(A_{0}+A_{1}+A_{2}+A_{3}\right)z - \frac{ip}{4}\left(3A_{0}-A_{1}-A_{2}-A_{3}\right)z = -i(p-1)A_{0}z + i(A_{1}+A_{2}+A_{3})z$$

$$(3.59)$$

From this, we read off the charges  $Q_I = (p - 1, -1, -1, -1)$ . Then the free energy is given by the usual (2.78), plus the constraint  $Q_I Y^I = 0$ , that is

$$2i - \mathfrak{m}^1 - \mathfrak{m}^2 - \mathfrak{m}^3 = \frac{8i}{p}, \qquad (3.60)$$

which fixes  $Y^0 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{p}$ .

#### 4 Discussion

The main goal of this paper was to make more precise and provide additional evidence for the conjecture first explored in [10, 11] that relates the mass-deformed  $S^3$  free energy in holographic theories to the bulk prepotential, at the two derivative level in the bulk derivative expansion. In the case where the bulk theory can be consistently truncated to only vector multiplet matter, this relation can be succinctly summarized in (1.2). In short, from the real mass parameters  $\mathfrak{m}^a$  of the boundary theory one constructs quantities  $Y^I$  defined in (1.2), and then the sphere free energy is proportional to the prepotential evaluated at  $Y^I$ . If the effective bulk theory contains charged hypermultiplets and one deforms the boundary theory by the operator dual to one of the hypermultiplet scalars while preserving supersymmetry, the only modification of our conjecture is that the possible real mass parameters (or equivalently the  $Y^I$ ) obey one additional constraint for each such hypermultiplet.

We tested our conjecture in several examples with and without hypermultiplets by explicitly constructing SO(4)-invariant solutions to the bulk BPS equations, evaluated their regularized on-shell action, and performed a Legendre transform corresponding to the fact that some of the bulk scalars obey alternate quantization. In the examples with only vector multiplets, we were able to find analytical solutions to the BPS equations, but in the examples with both vector multiplets and hypermultiplets we had to resort to numerical work. The main open question that we leave for future work is to prove our conjecture (1.2) for any bulk supergravity theory coupled to vector multiplets and hypermultiplets. We hope that the explicit examples worked out in this paper constitute the basis for such a proof.

Besides proving our conjecture, a natural question to ask is how to generalize it. One class of generalizations would be to consider higher-derivative interactions in the bulk. Given the result of [8] stating that the mass-deformed  $S^3$  free energy is independent of bulk D-terms, 1/4-BPS terms, and non-chiral F-terms, we expect that, in absence of real mass terms for the hypermultiplets, the  $S^3$  free energy would still depend only on the prepotential of the bulk theory even when higher-derivative interactions are included. Nevertheless, the relation between  $F_{S^3}$  and the prepotential may not be as simple as equating the two quantities. See also [34] for an exploration of four-derivative terms in 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theories coupled to matter. Assuming that  $F_{S^3}$  continues to be proportional to the bulk prepotential, ref. [34] conjectured a specific form for the leading correction to the STU model prepotential that arises in the bulk dual of ABJM theory.

Another interesting generalization of our conjecture that we hope to explore in the future is to four-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SCFTs placed on a round  $S^4$ , which are dual to asymptotically  $AdS_5$  backgrounds. In this case too, the theory on  $S^4$  can be deformed by a real mass parameter that is valued in the Cartan subalgebra of the flavor symmetry algebra of the  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SCFT. A well-known example is the 4d  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  super-Yang-Mills theory, which at large N and large 't Hooft coupling  $\lambda = g_{\rm YM}^2 N$  is dual to weakly-coupled type IIB string theory on  $AdS_5 \times S^5$ , and which can be viewed as an  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theory of a vector multiplet and an adjoint hypermultiplet. Introducing a mass parameter for the adjoint hypermultiplet yields the  $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$  theory. On  $S^4$ , the free energy of the  $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$  theory can be calculated using supersymmetric localization [35] and it is a non-trivial function of the mass m [36–41]. If it turns out that the  $S^4$  free energy of the  $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$  theory is also related to the prepotential of the effective 5d theory, then this relation is bound to be much more complicated than in the examples studied in this paper because even at leading order in the supergravity approximation, the  $S^4$  free energy is a non-trivial function of the mass m [41].<sup>24</sup> We hope to explore this topic in the future.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Damon Binder for useful discussions and for collaboration on related work. This research is supported in part by the Simons Foundation Grant No. 488653 (SSP, BZ) and by the US NSF under Grant Nos. PHY-1620045 (DZF), PHY-2111977 (SSP), and PHY-1914860 (BZ).

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$ Note that in 5d supergravity models, a relation between the bulk prepotential and the trial *a* coefficient of the boundary theory has been noticed, for instance, in [42, 43].

#### A Mass spectra of abelian vector multiplet theories

The  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theories discussed in section 2 involve only abelian vector multiplets whose interactions are governed by the prepotential  $\mathcal{F}(X^I)$  and the Fayet-Iliopoulos constants  $g_I$ . The general formulas of section 21.3 of [23] simplify greatly for these theories, since there are no hypermultiplets, and Killing vectors  $k_I^{\alpha}$  vanish because all scalars are uncharged.

Some theories have holographic duals. In this case each abelian vector multiplet  $(A_{\mu}, \chi_1, \chi_2, \tau)$  is dual to a conserved current multiplet containing the operators  $(J, \xi_1, \xi_2, j^a, K)$  with conformal dimensions  $\Delta = (1, 3/2, 3/2, 2, 2)$  and  $D_a j^a = 0$ . The bulk field masses that correspond to these values of  $\Delta$  are  $m^2 = 0$  for the vector and spinors and  $m^2 = -2/L^2$  for the scalar. In this appendix we derive these mass spectra using only the properties of the bulk theory, independent of holography.

In the first step we use only  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  information to show that scalars have  $m^2 = -2/L^2$  if two conditions are satisfied:

1. The boundary values of the scalars  $\tau_*^{\alpha}$  correspond to a SUSY critical point (c.p.) where

$$\nabla_{\alpha} W(\tau)|_{\tau=\tau_*} \equiv (\partial_{\alpha} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha}) W(\tau)|_{\tau=\tau_*} = 0.$$
(A.1)

2. The fermion mass matrix, given in detail in (18.17) of [23], also vanishes at the critical point

$$m_{ab} \equiv e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta} W|_{\tau = \tau_*} = 0.$$
 (A.2)

We start with the standard  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  potential (2.5)

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} (-3W\bar{W} + \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\delta} \nabla_{\gamma} W \nabla_{\bar{\delta}} \bar{W}) \,. \tag{A.3}$$

We apply two derivatives and push them to the right, noting that  $\partial_{\alpha}(e^{\mathcal{K}}\cdots) = e^{\mathcal{K}}\nabla_{\alpha}(\cdots)$ :

$$\partial_{\bar{\beta}}\partial_{\alpha}V = e^{\mathcal{K}}\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}\nabla_{\alpha}(-3W\bar{W} + \mathcal{K}^{c\bar{\delta}}\nabla_{c}W\nabla_{\bar{\delta}}\bar{W}).$$
(A.4)

Let's consider the two terms separately. The first term is easy to take care of:

$$\partial_{\bar{\beta}}\partial_{\alpha}V_1 = -3e^{\mathcal{K}}(\nabla_{\alpha}W\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}\bar{W} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}W\bar{W})|_{\tau=\tau_*} = -3e^{\mathcal{K}}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}W\bar{W}.$$
(A.5)

Notice that the Kähler metric appears. When working with the second term, we have to push a little harder. The derivative  $\nabla_{\alpha}$  acts covariantly with the metricity property  $\nabla_{\alpha}(\mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}}\cdots) = \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}}(D_a + K_a)(\cdots)$ , where  $D_a$  is the usual Riemannian covariant derivative specialized to Kahler manifolds. We expand out  $\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}\nabla_{\alpha}$  for clarity, and write

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\bar{\beta}}\partial_{\alpha}V_{2} &= e^{\mathcal{K}}(\partial_{\bar{\beta}} + \mathcal{K}_{\bar{\beta}})\mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}}[((D_{\alpha} + \mathcal{K}_{\alpha})\nabla_{\gamma}W)\nabla_{\bar{\delta}}\bar{W} + \nabla_{\gamma}W\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\delta}}\bar{W}] \qquad (A.6) \\ &= e^{\mathcal{K}}\{\mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}}[K_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}\nabla_{\gamma}W\nabla_{\bar{\delta}}\bar{W} + (\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\gamma}W)(\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}\nabla_{\bar{\delta}}\bar{W})] + R_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}{}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}}\nabla_{\gamma}W\nabla_{\bar{\delta}}\bar{W} \\ &+ \nabla_{\alpha}W\nabla_{\bar{\beta}}\bar{W} + K_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}W\bar{W}\}|_{\tau=\tau_{*}} = e^{\mathcal{K}}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}W\bar{W}. \end{aligned}$$

The 3 terms in the second line come from the first term in  $(\cdots)$  in the line above, while the second term in  $(\cdots)$  gives the 2 terms in the third line. The curvature tensor of the Kahler

manifold comes from the commutator  $[D_{\alpha}, D_{\overline{\beta}}]$ . All terms except the last one vanish when the conditions at the SUSY c.p. are imposed. Finally, we combine the results for  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  to obtain (at the c.p.)

$$\partial_{\bar{\beta}}\partial_a V = -2e^{\mathcal{K}}\mathcal{K}_{a\bar{\beta}}W\bar{W}|_{\tau=\tau^*} = -2\mathcal{K}_{a\bar{\beta}}/L^2.$$
(A.7)

By a similar calculation, we find

$$D_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}V|_{\tau=\tau_{*}} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ K^{\gamma\bar{\delta}} (\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\beta}\nabla_{\gamma}W) \nabla_{\bar{\delta}}\bar{W} - (\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\beta}W)\bar{W} \right]|_{\tau=\tau_{*}} = 0, \qquad (A.8)$$

showing that there are no exotic contributions to scalar masses.

The kinetic and mass Lagrangian for the scalar fields then reads, in Lorentzian signature,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} \left[ -g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \tau^{\alpha} \partial_{\nu} \tau^{\bar{\beta}} + \frac{2}{L^2} \tau^{\alpha} \tau^{\bar{\beta}} \right] \,. \tag{A.9}$$

Since  $\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ , evaluated at the critical point, appears as an overall factor, the scalar mass is indeed  $m^2 = -2/L^2$ .

We now bring in  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  information which shows that the fermion mass vanishes at a SUSY critical point, so that (A.2) is actually a consequence of (A.1). The fermion mass term in  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity is given in (21.38-.39) of [23] with  $C_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  defined in (20.236):

$$\mathcal{L}_m = -\frac{1}{2} m^{ij}{}_{\alpha\beta} \,\bar{\chi}^{\alpha}_i \chi^{\beta}_j, \qquad m^{ij}{}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} P^{ij}_I C_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}} \nabla_{\bar{\delta}} \bar{X}^I \,. \tag{A.10}$$

Another  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  relation we need is (20.191) (which is proven above (5.75) of [24]):

$$\nabla_{\beta} \nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} = C_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\delta} \nabla_{\bar{\delta}} \bar{X}^{I} \,. \tag{A.11}$$

We must adapt this information to the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  truncation we have been using. It is a truncation because one of the two sets of gauginos  $\chi_i$  is dropped. Note that the moment maps  $P_I^{ij}$  are related to the FI constants by  $P_I^{ij} = g_I \sigma_1^{ij}$  where  $\sigma_1^{ij}$  is the standard Pauli matrix, with eigenvalues  $\pm 1$ . We will keep the fermion with positive eigenvalue in our truncation. Thus (A.10) is replaced by

$$\mathcal{L}_m = -\frac{1}{2} m_{\alpha\beta} \,\bar{\chi}^{\alpha} \chi^{\beta}, \qquad m_{\alpha\beta} = C_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}} \nabla_{\bar{\delta}} (g_I \bar{X}^I) = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} C_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\bar{\delta}} \nabla_{\bar{\delta}} \bar{W}. \tag{A.12}$$

In the last equality we used  $g_I X^I = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} W$ , see (2.7). We contract (A.11) with  $g_I$ , and rewrite the result as

$$e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \nabla_{\beta} \nabla_{\alpha} W = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} C_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\delta} \nabla_{\bar{\delta}} \bar{W}.$$
(A.13)

This equation shows that the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  and  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  fermion mass matrices are the same. Then (A.12) shows that this mass matrix vanishes at a SUSY critical point. Finally we point out that gauge fields are massless in a theory of abelian vector multiplets without hypermultiplets. The  $\tau^{\alpha}$  fields are gauge neutral, so no opportunity to generate a vector mass term arises.

#### **B** Asymptotic analysis

In this appendix, we consider an  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  supergravity theory coupled to  $n_V$  vector multiplets and determine which scalar fields obey which boundary conditions. Doing so requires that we examine the fluctuations of the fields around an AdS background where the vector fields and spinors all vanish, and the scalar fields are constant  $X^I = X_*^I$ ,  $\tau^{\alpha} = \tau_*^{\alpha}$ , etc. In such a background, the SUSY variations of the bosonic fields vanish automatically. The SUSY variations of the fermionic fields vanish provided that

$$\delta \psi^{i}_{\mu} = D_{\mu} \epsilon^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \gamma_{\mu} \tau_{3ij} g_{I} \bar{X}^{I}_{*} = 0,$$
  

$$\delta \chi^{\alpha}_{i} = -g_{I} \tau_{3ij} g^{\alpha \bar{\beta}}_{*} \left( \bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\beta}} \bar{X}^{I} \right)_{*} \epsilon^{j} = 0,$$
(B.1)

where, as in the main text, the subscript  $_*$  means that the quantities are evaluated at the constant values of the fields corresponding to the AdS solution. In addition to (B.1), we also have the complex conjugate equations.

As mentioned in the main text, we take  $g_I \bar{X}_*^I = g_I X_*^I = 1/L$  so that the first equation in (B.1) reduces to the Killing spinor equation

$$D_{\mu}\epsilon^{i} = -\frac{1}{2L}\gamma_{\mu}\tau^{ij}\epsilon_{j}, \qquad D_{\mu}\epsilon_{i} = -\frac{1}{2L}\gamma_{\mu}\tau_{ij}\epsilon^{j}.$$
(B.2)

From the second equation in (B.1) and its complex conjugate, we have the SUSY conditions

$$g_I \left( \nabla_{\alpha} X^I \right)_* = g_I \left( \bar{\nabla}_{\bar{\alpha}} \bar{X}^I \right)_* = 0.$$
 (B.3)

Even though we are interested in solutions in Euclidean signature, the question of whether or not scalar fields obey alternate quantization can be settled using Poincaré coordinates. we thus take the frame to be  $e^a = e^{r/L} dx^a$  and  $e^3 = dr$ , for a = 0, 1, 2. We have  $\omega^{a3} = e^a/L$  and  $\omega^{ab} = 0$ . The solution of the KS equation (B.2) corresponding to the Poincaré supercharges<sup>25</sup> is

$$\epsilon^{i} = e^{r/2L} \eta^{i}_{+}, \qquad \epsilon_{i} = e^{r/2L} \eta_{i+}, \qquad (B.4)$$

where  $\eta^i$  and  $\eta_i$  are constant spinors obeying the radiality conditions

$$\eta_{+}^{i} = -\gamma_{3}\tau^{ij}\eta_{j+}, \qquad \eta_{i+} = -\gamma_{3}\tau_{ij}\eta_{+}^{j}.$$
 (B.5)

Let us now study how SUSY acts on the coefficients of the boundary expansion of the linearized fluctuations of the fields around the AdS solution. (For simplicity, L = 1.) We have

$$\begin{aligned} \tau^{\alpha} &= \tau_{*}^{\alpha} + \tau_{1}^{\alpha} e^{-r} + \tau_{2}^{\alpha} e^{-2r} + \cdots, \qquad X^{I} = X_{*}^{I} + X_{1}^{I} e^{-r} + X_{2}^{I} e^{-2r} + \cdots, \\ \chi_{i}^{\alpha} &= \chi_{i3/2}^{\alpha} e^{-3r/2} + \chi_{i5/2}^{\alpha} e^{-3r/2} + \cdots, \\ A_{a} &= A_{a1} e^{-r} + A_{a2} e^{-2r} + \cdots, \\ \psi_{a}^{i} &= \psi_{a1/2}^{i} e^{-r/2} + \psi_{a3/2}^{i} e^{-3r/2} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
(B.6)

 $^{25}\mathrm{We}$  do not need the Killing spinors for superconformal charges, since those symmetries are broken in a mass-deformed theory.

where the gauge field is written with frame indices. For the fermions, we can split the coefficients based on their radiality as in

$$\chi_{i3/2\pm}^{\alpha} = \mp \gamma_3 \tau_{ij} \chi_{3/2\pm}^{j\alpha}, \quad \text{etc.}$$
(B.7)

SUSY acts on this asymptotic data via the transformation rules

$$\delta\tau^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{\epsilon}^{i}\chi_{i}^{\alpha}, \qquad (B.8)$$
  
$$\delta A_{\mu}{}^{I} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon^{ij}\bar{\epsilon}_{i}\gamma_{\mu}\chi_{j}^{\alpha}(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*} + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{ij}\bar{\epsilon}^{i}\gamma_{\mu}\chi^{j\alpha}(\nabla_{\alpha}\bar{X}^{I})_{*} + \varepsilon^{ij}\bar{\epsilon}_{i}\psi_{\mu j}(X^{I})_{*} + \varepsilon_{ij}\bar{\epsilon}^{i}\psi_{\mu}^{j}(\bar{X}^{I})_{*},$$

as well as their complex conjugates. The  $\epsilon^i$ ,  $\epsilon_i$  are the Killing spinors of (B.4).

Before proceeding, we note that we are interested in the transformation of the  $n_V$  vector multiplet photons, which couple to the  $\chi_{\alpha}$ , rather than the gravi-photon, which couples only to the gravitino. Near the boundary these properties of the couplings can be seen by contracting the  $\delta A_{\mu}{}^{I}$  transformation rule with  $g_I$  and using  $g_I \bar{X}_*^I = g_I X_*^I = 1/L$  together with (B.3):

$$\delta g_I A_{\mu}{}^I = [\varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\epsilon}_i \psi_{\mu j} + \varepsilon_{ij} \bar{\epsilon}^i \psi_{\mu}^j] / L \,. \tag{B.9}$$

Likewise, one can contract  $\delta A_{\mu}{}^{I}$  with any of the  $n_{V}$  independent sets of coefficients  $h_{I}$  which satisfy  $h_{I}(X^{I})_{*} = 0$ . These vector multiplet photons  $h_{I}A_{\mu}{}^{I}$  couple only to their fermionic partners. Thus we drop the gravitino in the following with the understanding that we are considering a contraction with a set  $h_{I}$ .

Returning to (B.8), we use the first equation there, expanded at large r as in (B.6), to obtain

$$\delta \tau_1^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\eta}_{+}^i \chi_{i3/2}^{\alpha}, \qquad \delta \tau_2^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\eta}_{+}^i \chi_{i5/2}^{\alpha}, \\ \delta \bar{\tau}_1^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \chi_{3/2}^{i\alpha}, \qquad \delta \tau_2^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \chi_{5/2}^{i\alpha}, \qquad \text{(B.10)}$$

We have  $\bar{\eta}_{+}^{i}\chi_{in+}^{\alpha} = -\bar{\eta}_{i+}\chi_{n+}^{i\alpha}$  and  $\bar{\eta}_{+}^{i}\chi_{in-}^{\alpha} = \bar{\eta}_{i+}\chi_{n-}^{i\alpha}$ . Thus, if we write  $\tau^{\alpha} = A^{\alpha} + iB^{\alpha}$ , then

$$\delta A_1^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\eta}_+^i \chi_{i3/2-}^{\alpha}, \qquad \delta A_2^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\eta}_+^i \chi_{i5/2-}^{\alpha}, \\\delta B_1^{\alpha} = -\frac{i}{2} \bar{\eta}_+^i \chi_{i3/2+}^{\alpha}, \qquad \delta B_2^{\alpha} = -\frac{i}{2} \bar{\eta}_+^i \chi_{i5/2+}^{\alpha}, \qquad \text{(B.11)}$$

where  $A_n^{\alpha}$  and  $B_n^{\alpha}$  are the coefficients of  $e^{-nr}$  in the boundary expansion of  $A^{\alpha}$  and  $B^{\alpha}$ .

From the second equation in (B.8), we get

$$\delta A_{a1}{}^{I} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi^{\alpha}_{j3/2} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I})_* + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ij} \bar{\eta}^{i}_+ \gamma_a \chi^{j\alpha}_{3/2} (\nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_* ,$$
  

$$\delta A_{a2}{}^{I} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi^{\alpha}_{j5/2} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I})_* + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{ij} \bar{\eta}^{i}_+ \gamma_a \chi^{j\alpha}_{5/2} (\nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_* .$$
(B.12)

Note that  $\varepsilon^{ij}\bar{\eta}_{i+}\gamma_a\chi^{\alpha}_{j3/2\pm} = \pm\varepsilon_{ij}\bar{\eta}^i_+\gamma_a\chi^{j\alpha}_{3/2\pm}$ , so

$$\delta A_{a1}{}^{I} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi^{\alpha}_{j3/2+} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} + \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_* + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi^{\alpha}_{j3/2-} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} - \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_* ,$$
  

$$\delta A_{a2}{}^{I} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi^{\alpha}_{j5/2+} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} + \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_* + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi^{\alpha}_{j5/2-} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} - \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_* .$$
(B.13)

In the boundary expansion of the gauge field, we know that the leading coefficient  $A_{a1}^{I}$  should be interpreted as the source for the dual conserved current on the boundary:

$$A_{a,\text{source}}^I = A_{a1}^I \,. \tag{B.14}$$

From the first line of (B.13) and the fact that sources transform into sources, we have

$$A_{a,\text{source}}^{I} = \varepsilon^{ij} \bar{\eta}_{i+} \gamma_a \chi_{j,\text{source}}^{I} , \qquad (B.15)$$

where we identify

$$\chi_{j,\text{source}}^{I} \equiv \chi_{j3/2+}^{\alpha} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} + \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_{*} + \chi_{j3/2-}^{\alpha} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} - \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_{*} .$$
(B.16)

The quantities  $\chi_{j,\text{source}}^{I}$  then represent the sources for the dimension 3/2 fermionic operators dual to the massless bulk fermions. Note that  $g_{I}\chi_{j,\text{source}}^{I} = 0$ , so there are only  $n_{V}$  linearly independent  $\chi_{j,\text{source}}^{I}$ .

We have mentioned that in the boundary theory each conserved current multiplet contains a dimension 2 scalar (dual to a regularly quantized bulk field) and a dimension 1 scalar operator (dual to an alternately quantized field). The source  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{source}}^{I}$  for the dimension 2 scalar operator must be a linear combination of the leading coefficients  $A_{1}^{I}$  and  $B_{1}^{I}$  and must obey the property that SUSY transformations take it to the fermion sources in (B.16)

$$\delta \mathcal{B}_{\text{source}}^{I} = \bar{\eta}_{+}^{i} \chi_{i,\text{source}}^{I} \,. \tag{B.17}$$

Examining (B.11), we identify

$$\delta \mathcal{B}_{\text{source}}^{I} = i B_{1}^{\alpha} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} + \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_{*} + A_{1}^{\alpha} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I} - \nabla_{\alpha} \bar{X}^{I})_{*} = \Im(\tau_{1}^{\alpha} (\nabla_{\alpha} X^{I})_{*}) .$$
(B.18)

Thus, it is the field  $\mathcal{B}^{I} = \Im((\tau^{\alpha} - \tau_{*}^{\alpha})(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*})$  that should have regular boundary conditions, while  $\mathcal{A}^{I} = \Re((\tau^{\alpha} - \tau_{*}^{\alpha})(\nabla_{\alpha}X^{I})_{*})$  should obey alternate quantization. The fields  $\mathcal{A}^{I}$ and  $\mathcal{B}^{I}$  are not independent because the condition (B.3) implies  $g_{I}\mathcal{A}^{I} = g_{I}\mathcal{B}^{I} = 0$ . There are of course only  $n_{V}$  linearly-independent fields of each kind.

#### C The STU model with general couplings

The solutions to the BPS equations become a bit more complicated in the STU model when we choose all couplings to be different; however, we're still able to find a solution analytically. We change slightly parametrization for the  $Z^{I}$ , because we want the scalar fields to vanish at the boundary

$$Z^{I} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (1+y^{1}) (1+y^{2}) (1+y^{3}) \\ (1+y^{1}) (1-y^{2}) (1-y^{3}) \\ (1-y^{1}) (1+y^{2}) (1-y^{3}) \\ (1-y^{1}) (1-y^{2}) (1+y^{3}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.1)

with

$$y^{\alpha} = \Omega^{\alpha} + \tau^{\alpha} \,. \tag{C.2}$$

For convenience, we use the notation

$$\Omega_{a} = \frac{\frac{1}{L^{2}} - \frac{(\xi_{a}^{+})^{2} + (\xi_{a}^{-})^{2}}{2}}{\xi_{a}^{+} \xi_{a}^{-}},$$

$$\xi_{a}^{\pm} = \sqrt{g_{0}g_{a}} \pm \frac{\sqrt{g_{1}g_{2}g_{3}}}{\sqrt{g_{a}}},$$

$$L^{2} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{g_{0}g_{1}g_{2}g_{3}}}.$$
(C.3)

The solution to the BPS equations for the scalar fields and the metric is

$$\begin{aligned} \tau^{\alpha} &= c^{\alpha} \frac{1 - r^{2}}{1 + v^{\alpha} r^{2}} \\ \tilde{\tau}^{\alpha} &= \tilde{c}^{\alpha} \frac{1 - r^{2}}{1 + \tilde{v}^{\alpha} r^{2}} \\ e^{2A} &= 4r^{2} \frac{(1 + w)(1 + wr^{4})}{(1 - r^{2})^{2}(1 + wr^{2})^{2}} \,, \end{aligned}$$
(C.4)

where we defined the constants

$$v^{\alpha} = w + c^{\alpha} \frac{L^{2}}{2} \xi^{+}_{\alpha} \xi^{-}_{\alpha} (1+w)$$
  

$$\tilde{v}^{\alpha} = w + \tilde{c}^{\alpha} \frac{L^{2}}{2} \xi^{+}_{\alpha} \xi^{-}_{\alpha} (1+w)$$
  

$$\tilde{c}^{\alpha} = \frac{c^{1} c^{2} c^{3}}{c^{\alpha}} \frac{(\xi^{+}_{1} \xi^{+}_{2} \xi^{+}_{3})^{2}}{(\xi^{+}_{\alpha})^{4}} \left[ -\frac{2}{L^{2}} - \sum_{j \neq \alpha} c^{j} \xi^{+}_{j} \xi^{-}_{j} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{c^{1} c^{2} c^{3}}{c^{\alpha}} \frac{\xi^{+}_{1} \xi^{+}_{2} \xi^{+}_{3}}{(\xi^{+}_{\alpha})^{2}} \left( g_{0} + g_{\alpha} - \sum_{j \neq \alpha} g_{j} \right) \right]^{-1}$$
  

$$w = \frac{L^{6}}{8} \left( \prod_{j} \xi^{+}_{j} \xi^{-}_{j} \right) \frac{\sum_{I} \left( g_{I} + \frac{1}{2L^{2}} \frac{1}{g_{I}} \right)}{\sum_{I} \left( g_{I} - \frac{1}{2L^{2}} \frac{1}{g_{I}} \right)} \frac{c^{1} c^{2} c^{3}}{\prod_{j} \left( 1 + \frac{L^{2}}{2} \xi^{+}_{j} \xi^{-}_{j} c^{j} \right)}$$
(C.5)

where sum and products over lower case letters are intended to be from 1 to 3, while upper case ones are from 0 to 3.

The computation of  $S_{\text{reg}}$  follows from section 2.5, and is

$$S_{\rm reg} = \frac{\pi L^2}{2G_N} \frac{1-w}{1+w} \,. \tag{C.6}$$

Notice that in the case of all couplings equal, w reduces to  $c^1 c^2 c^3$ , as can be seen by (C.5). In this case our result agrees with formula (6.19) of [18]. It can also be seen that the case  $g_0 = n^2 g$ ,  $g_1 = g_2 = g_3 = g$  agrees with (2.89).

Then we need to perform the Legendre transform. We find

$$\frac{\partial S_{\text{reg}}}{\partial a^{\alpha}} = -\frac{L^2 \pi}{32G_N} \left( \frac{\Omega_{\alpha} \tilde{(a^{\alpha})^2}}{(1-\Omega_{\alpha})^3} + \frac{\tilde{b}^{\alpha}}{(1-\Omega_{\alpha})^2} - \frac{L^6}{8} \left(\prod_j \xi_j^+\right)^2 \frac{a^1 a^2 a^3}{a^{\alpha}} \right). \tag{C.7}$$

Putting everything together, we get that the free energy is

$$F_{S^3} = \frac{4\pi}{G_N} \prod_j \left( \frac{2}{L^2} + 2\xi_j^+ \xi_j^- c^j - (\xi_j^+ c^j)^2 \right) \\ \times \left[ \frac{8}{L^4} + \frac{4}{L^2} \sum_j \xi_j^+ \xi_j^- c^j + 2\sum_j \frac{\prod_i \xi_i^+ \xi_i^- c^i}{\xi_j^+ \xi_j^- c^j} + \prod_j \xi_j^+ \sum_I g_I \right]^{-1}.$$
(C.8)

Then, using

$$\frac{a^{\alpha} - \tilde{a}^{\alpha}}{2i} = -2i\left(\frac{c^{\alpha}}{1+v^{\alpha}} - \frac{\tilde{c}^{\alpha}}{1+\tilde{v}^{\alpha}}\right),\tag{C.9}$$

as well as

$$\mathcal{K}^*_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} = \frac{1}{(1 - \Omega^2_{\alpha})^2} \delta_{\alpha\tilde{\beta}} \,, \tag{C.10}$$

one can express (C.8) in terms of the real mass parameters. The result is again (2.78).

# D Details about the universal multiplet

We give here the details needed in order to describe the geometry of the  $\frac{SU(2,1)}{SU(2)\times U(1)}$  manifold. Its metric is given by

$$ds^{2} = 2\left[\frac{|dz_{1}|^{2} + |dz_{2}|^{2}}{1 - |z_{1}|^{2} - |z_{2}|^{2}} + \frac{|z_{1}^{*}dz_{1} + z_{2}^{*}dz_{2}|^{2}}{\left(1 - |z_{1}|^{2} - |z_{2}|^{2}\right)^{2}}\right],$$
 (D.1)

where the overall normalization is chosen so that

$$R = -12. \tag{D.2}$$

This metric can be obtained by the following Kähler potential

$$\mathcal{K}_H = -2\log\left(1 - |z_1|^2 - |z_2|^2\right).$$
 (D.3)

The hypermultiplet scalars are the  $z_i$  and  $\bar{z}_i$  fields. To describe the manifold geometry, it's convenient to introduce a different set of coordinates  $(\rho, \theta, \phi, \psi)$ , related to the  $z_i$ 's as

$$z_1 = \rho \cos \frac{\theta}{2} e^{i(\psi+\phi)/2}, \qquad z_2 = \rho \sin \frac{\theta}{2} e^{i(\psi-\phi)/2}.$$
 (D.4)

Introducing the frame

$$e^{1} = \frac{\rho}{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{1-\rho^{2}}}\sigma_{1}, \qquad \sigma_{1} = \cos\psi d\theta + \sin\psi\sin\theta d\phi,$$

$$e^{2} = \frac{\rho}{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{1-\rho^{2}}}\sigma_{2}, \qquad \sigma_{2} = -\sin\psi d\theta + \cos\psi\sin\theta d\phi,$$

$$e^{3} = \frac{\rho}{\sqrt{2}(1-\rho^{2})}\sigma_{3}, \qquad \sigma_{3} = d\psi + \cos\theta d\phi,$$

$$e^{4} = \sqrt{2}\frac{d\rho}{1-\rho^{2}},$$
(D.5)

then we can obtain the metric (D.1) in these new coordinates as  $ds^2 = e_a e^a = h_{uv} dq^u dq^v$ .

We can also define some frame vectors  $f^{iA}_{\ u}$ . If we think of  $f^{iA}$  as a one-form  $f^{iA} = f^{iA}_{\ u} dq^u$ , then

$$f^{11} = \frac{ie^3 + e^4}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad f^{12} = \frac{ie^1 - e^2}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad f^{21} = \frac{ie^1 + e^2}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad f^{22} = \frac{-ie^3 + e^4}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (D.6)

This choice frame vectors satisfies many properties, many of which we do not report here, but can be found for example in equation (4.142) of [24]; we mention only that

$$h_{uv} = f^{iA}{}_{u}\varepsilon_{ij}C_{AB}f^{jB}{}_{v}$$

$$\left(f^{iA}{}_{u}\right)^{*} = f^{jB}{}_{u}\varepsilon_{ji}\rho_{B\bar{A}},$$
(D.7)

with the choices

$$C_{AB} = \varepsilon_{AB}, \qquad \rho_{A\bar{B}} = \varepsilon_{A\bar{B}}.$$
 (D.8)

These two matrices are related by  $C_{AB} = \rho_{A\bar{C}} d^{\bar{C}}{}_B$ , so, in this case,

$$d^{\bar{A}}{}_B = \delta^A_B, \tag{D.9}$$

such that  $C_{AB} = \rho_{A\bar{C}} d^{\bar{C}}_{B}$ . These frame fields define as well a hypercomplex structure

$$\vec{J}_{u}^{\ v} = -f^{iA}_{\ u} f^{v}_{\ jA} \vec{\tau}_{i}^{\ j}, \tag{D.10}$$

where  $f^{v}_{\ jA}$  is defined as the inverse of  $f^{jA}_{\ v}$ ,

$$f^{iA}_{\ v} f^{u}_{\ iA} = \delta^{u}_{v}, \qquad f^{iA}_{\ u} f^{u}_{\ jB} = \delta^{i}_{j} \delta^{A}_{B},$$
 (D.11)

with  $\vec{\tau}_i^{\ j} = i \vec{\sigma}_i^{\ j}$ . This hypercomplex structures are covariantly constant up to a rotation:

$$\nabla_w \vec{J_u}^v + 2\vec{\omega}_w \times \vec{J_u}^v = 0.$$
 (D.12)

In particular, an explicit calculation gives that the one-forms  $\vec{\omega} = \vec{\omega}_w dq^w$  are

$$\omega^{1} = \frac{\sigma_{1}}{2\sqrt{1-\rho^{2}}}, \qquad \omega^{2} = \frac{\sigma_{2}}{2\sqrt{1-\rho^{2}}}, \qquad \omega^{3} = \frac{(2-\rho^{2})\sigma_{3}}{4(1-\rho^{2})}.$$
(D.13)

The manifold  $\frac{SU(2,1)}{SU(2)\times U(1)}$  has eight Killing vectors (see equation (12) of [44]). We are interested in two of them,

$$\zeta = \partial_{\phi} = \frac{i(z_1\partial_{z_1} - z_2\partial_{z_2} - \bar{z}_1\partial_{\bar{z}_1} + \bar{z}_2\partial_{\bar{z}_2})}{2}, \quad \xi = \partial_{\psi} = \frac{i(z_1\partial_{z_1} + z_2\partial_{z_2} - \bar{z}_1\partial_{\bar{z}_1} - \bar{z}_2\partial_{\bar{z}_2})}{2}.$$
(D.14)

It can be checked that they obey  $\nabla_{(u}\zeta_{v)} = \nabla_{(u}\xi_{v)} = 0$ . From the Killing vectors, we can obtain the moment maps

$$P_{(\zeta)} = -\frac{1}{2} \vec{J}_{u}^{v} \nabla_{v} \zeta^{u} = -\left(\frac{\sin\theta\sin\psi}{\sqrt{1-\rho^{2}}}, \frac{\sin\theta\cos\psi}{\sqrt{1-\rho^{2}}}, \frac{(2-\rho^{2})\cos\theta}{2(1-\rho^{2})}\right),$$
  

$$P_{(\xi)} = -\frac{1}{2} \vec{J}_{u}^{v} \nabla_{v} \xi^{u} = -\left(0, 0, \frac{\rho^{2}}{2(1-\rho^{2})}\right),$$
(D.15)

which are related to the Killing vectors by

$$\partial_u \vec{P}_I + 2\vec{\omega}_u \times \vec{P}_I = \vec{J}_{uv} k_I^v \,, \tag{D.16}$$

and

$$-2n_H \vec{P}_I = \vec{J}_u^{\ v} \nabla_v k_I^u \,. \tag{D.17}$$

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- O. Aharony, A. Hanany, K.A. Intriligator, N. Seiberg and M.J. Strassler, Aspects of N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 499 (1997) 67 [hep-th/9703110] [INSPIRE].
- [2] D.L. Jafferis, The exact superconformal R-symmetry extremizes Z, JHEP 05 (2012) 159 [arXiv:1012.3210] [INSPIRE].
- [3] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi and S. Lee, Notes on SUSY gauge theories on three-sphere, JHEP 03 (2011) 127 [arXiv:1012.3512] [INSPIRE].
- [4] B. Willett, Localization on three-dimensional manifolds, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 443006
   [arXiv:1608.02958] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S.S. Pufu, The F-theorem and F-maximization, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 443008
   [arXiv:1608.02960] [INSPIRE].
- [6] T.T. Dumitrescu, An introduction to supersymmetric field theories in curved space, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 443005 [arXiv:1608.02957] [INSPIRE].
- [7] C. Closset, T.T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Contact terms, unitarity, and F-maximization in three-dimensional superconformal theories, JHEP 10 (2012) 053 [arXiv:1205.4142] [INSPIRE].
- [8] D.J. Binder, D.Z. Freedman, S.S. Pufu and B. Zan, The holographic contributions to the sphere free energy, JHEP 01 (2022) 171 [arXiv:2107.12382] [INSPIRE].
- [9] I.R. Klebanov and E. Witten, AdS/CFT correspondence and symmetry breaking, Nucl. Phys. B 556 (1999) 89 [hep-th/9905104] [INSPIRE].
- [10] S.M. Hosseini and A. Zaffaroni, Large N matrix models for 3d N = 2 theories: twisted index, free energy and black holes, JHEP 08 (2016) 064 [arXiv:1604.03122] [INSPIRE].
- [11] A. Zaffaroni, AdS black holes, holography and localization, Living Rev. Rel. 23 (2020) 2 [arXiv:1902.07176] [INSPIRE].
- [12] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, A topologically twisted index for three-dimensional supersymmetric theories, JHEP 07 (2015) 127 [arXiv:1504.03698] [INSPIRE].
- S. Ferrara and R. Kallosh, Supersymmetry and attractors, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 1514 [hep-th/9602136] [INSPIRE].
- [14] N. Halmagyi, M. Petrini and A. Zaffaroni, BPS black holes in AdS<sub>4</sub> from M-theory, JHEP 08 (2013) 124 [arXiv:1305.0730] [INSPIRE].
- [15] D. Klemm, N. Petri and M. Rabbiosi, Symplectically invariant flow equations for N = 2, D = 4 gauged supergravity with hypermultiplets, JHEP **04** (2016) 008 [arXiv:1602.01334] [INSPIRE].
- [16] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N = 6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
   [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].

- [17] D.L. Jafferis, I.R. Klebanov, S.S. Pufu and B.R. Safdi, Towards the F-theorem: N = 2 field theories on the three-sphere, JHEP 06 (2011) 102 [arXiv:1103.1181] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D.Z. Freedman and S.S. Pufu, The holography of F-maximization, JHEP 03 (2014) 135 [arXiv:1302.7310] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S.M. Hosseini, K. Hristov and A. Passias, Holographic microstate counting for AdS<sub>4</sub> black holes in massive IIA supergravity, JHEP 10 (2017) 190 [arXiv:1707.06884] [INSPIRE].
- [20] F. Benini, H. Khachatryan and P. Milan, Black hole entropy in massive type IIA, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 035004 [arXiv:1707.06886] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S.M. Hosseini, K. Hristov, A. Passias and A. Zaffaroni, 6D attractors and black hole microstates, JHEP 12 (2018) 001 [arXiv:1809.10685] [INSPIRE].
- [22] S.M. Hosseini and K. Hristov, 4d F(4) gauged supergravity and black holes of class F, JHEP
   02 (2021) 177 [arXiv:2011.01943] [INSPIRE].
- [23] D.Z. Freedman and A.V. Proeyen, *Supergravity*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. (2009).
- [24] E. Lauria and A. Van Proeyen, N = 2 supergravity in D = 4, 5, 6 dimensions, Lect. Notes Phys. 966 (2020) 1 [arXiv:2004.11433] [INSPIRE].
- [25] K. Skenderis, Lecture notes on holographic renormalization, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 5849 [hep-th/0209067] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S.L. Cacciatori and D. Klemm, Supersymmetric AdS<sub>4</sub> black holes and attractors, JHEP 01 (2010) 085 [arXiv:0911.4926] [INSPIRE].
- [27] N. Bobev, V.S. Min and K. Pilch, Mass-deformed ABJM and black holes in AdS<sub>4</sub>, JHEP 03 (2018) 050 [arXiv:1801.03135] [INSPIRE].
- [28] T. Nosaka, K. Shimizu and S. Terashima, Large N behavior of mass deformed ABJM theory, JHEP 03 (2016) 063 [arXiv:1512.00249] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Nosaka, K. Shimizu and S. Terashima, Mass deformed ABJM theory on three sphere in large N limit, JHEP 03 (2017) 121 [arXiv:1608.02654] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Honda, T. Nosaka, K. Shimizu and S. Terashima, Supersymmetry breaking in a large N gauge theory with gravity dual, JHEP 03 (2019) 159 [arXiv:1807.08874] [INSPIRE].
- [31] S. Cecotti, S. Ferrara and L. Girardello, Geometry of type II superstrings and the moduli of superconformal field theories, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 4 (1989) 2475 [INSPIRE].
- [32] N. Bobev, V.S. Min, K. Pilch and F. Rosso, Mass deformations of the ABJM theory: the holographic free energy, JHEP 03 (2019) 130 [arXiv:1812.01026] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Amariti and A. Gnecchi,  $\tau_{RR}$  minimization in presence of hypermultiplets, JHEP 03 (2022) 166 [arXiv:2107.01195] [INSPIRE].
- [34] N. Bobev, A.M. Charles, K. Hristov and V. Reys, Higher-derivative supergravity, AdS<sub>4</sub> holography, and black holes, JHEP 08 (2021) 173 [arXiv:2106.04581] [INSPIRE].
- [35] V. Pestun, Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops, Commun. Math. Phys. 313 (2012) 71 [arXiv:0712.2824] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J.G. Russo and K. Zarembo, Evidence for large-N phase transitions in  $N = 2^*$  theory, JHEP 04 (2013) 065 [arXiv:1302.6968] [INSPIRE].

- [37] J.G. Russo and K. Zarembo, Massive N = 2 gauge theories at large N, JHEP 11 (2013) 130 [arXiv:1309.1004] [INSPIRE].
- [38] J.G. Russo, E. Widén and K. Zarembo, N = 2\* phase transitions and holography, JHEP 02 (2019) 196 [arXiv:1901.02835] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Buchel, J.G. Russo and K. Zarembo, Rigorous test of non-conformal holography: Wilson loops in N = 2<sup>\*</sup> theory, JHEP 03 (2013) 062 [arXiv:1301.1597] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J.G. Russo and K. Zarembo, Localization at large N, in 100<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the birth of I.Ya. Pomeranchuk, World Scientific, Singapore (2014), p. 287 [arXiv:1312.1214] [INSPIRE].
- [41] N. Bobev, H. Elvang, D.Z. Freedman and S.S. Pufu, Holography for  $N = 2^*$  on  $S^4$ , JHEP 07 (2014) 001 [arXiv:1311.1508] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S.M. Hosseini, I. Yaakov and A. Zaffaroni, Topologically twisted indices in five dimensions and holography, JHEP 11 (2018) 119 [arXiv:1808.06626] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S.M. Hosseini, K. Hristov and A. Zaffaroni, An extremization principle for the entropy of rotating BPS black holes in AdS<sub>5</sub>, JHEP 07 (2017) 106 [arXiv:1705.05383] [INSPIRE].
- [44] K. Behrndt and M. Cvetič, Gauging of N = 2 supergravity hypermultiplet and novel renormalization group flows, Nucl. Phys. B 609 (2001) 183 [hep-th/0101007] [INSPIRE].